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INTRODUCTION 

.. 2 .. ~ In November 2002, the Deputy Director for 
Operations (DOO) informed the Office of Inspector General (GIG) 
that the Agency had established a program in the Counterterrorist 
Center to detain arid interrogate terrorists at sites abroad (lithe eTC 
Program lT

). He also informed OIG that he t learned 0 and had . 
. atched a te to investigate 

January 2003, the DDO informed OIG 
. that he had received allegations that Agency personnel had used 
unauthorized interrogation techniques with a detainee, 
'A~d AbRahim Al-Nashiri, at another foreign site, and requ~sted that 



( OIG investigate. Separately, OIG received information that soine 
, employees were concerned that certain covert Agency activities, at an 
overseas detention and interrogation site might involve violations of 
human rights. In January 2003, OIG initiated a review of Agency 
counterterrorism detention and interro tion activities_ 

and the incident with 
er 2001 to mid-

SUMMARY 

th~ DCI assigned responsibility for 
implementir~.g capture and detention authority to the DDO and to the 
Director of the DCI Counterterrorist Center (D / eTC). When U.S. 
military forces began·d~tainin individuals in . tan and at 
Guantanamo 

the Agency began to detain and interrogate 
directly a number of suspected terrorists. The capture and initial 
Agency'interrogation of the first high value detainee, Abu Zubaydah, 

1 ~ Appendix A addresses the P~ocedures and Resources that Ole employed in 
conducting this Review. The Review does not address renditions conducted by the Agency or 
interrogations conducted jointly U.S. military. 

2 (U) Appendix B is a chronology of significant events that occurred d~ring the period of this 
Review. 
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( 
in March 2002, presented the Agency with a significant dilemma~4 
Ttte Agency was under pressure to do everything possible to prevent 
additional terrorist attacks. Senior Agency officials believed Abu 
Zubaydah was withholding information that could no.t be obtained 
through then-authorized interrogation techniques. Agency officials 
believed that a more robust approach was necessary to elicit threat 
information from Abu Zubaydah and possibly from other senior 
Al-Qa'ida high value detainees. 

5. The conduct of detention and interro.gation 
activities presented new challenges for CIA. These included 
determining where detention and interrogation facilities could be 
securely located and operated, and iQ.entifying and preparing 
qualified personnel to manage and carry out detention and 
interrogation activities. With the knowledge that AI-Qa'ida 
personnel had been trained ITt the use of resistance techniques, 
another challenge was to identify interrogation techniques that 
Agency personnel coul¢llawfully use to overcome the resistance. In 
this context, eTC, with the assistance of the Office of Technical . 
Service (OTS), proposed certain more coercive physical techniques to 
use on Abu Zubaydah. All of these considerations took place against 
the backdrop of pre-September II, 2001 CIA avoidance of 
interrogations and repeated U.s. policy statements condemning· 
torture and advocating the·h~ane treatment of political prisoners 
and detainees in the international community. 

6. The Office of General Counsel (OGe) took 
the lead in determining and documenting the legal parameters and 
constraints for interrogations. OGe conducted independent research 

4 ~ The use of "high value" or "medium value" to describe terrorist targets and 
detainees in this Review is based on how they have been generally categorized by CTC. CTC 
distinguishes targets according to the quality of the intelligence that they are believed likely to be 
able to prOVide about current terrorist threats against the United States. ·Senior AI-Qa1ida 
planners arid operators, such as Abu Zubaydah and Khalid Shaykh Muhammad, fall into the 
category of "high value" and are given the highest pribrity for capture, detention, and 
interrogation. CTC categorizes those individuals who are believed to have lesser direct 
knowledge ·of such threats, but to have information of intelligence value, as "medium value" 
targets/ detainees. 



( 
and consulted extensively with Department of Justice (Do}) and 
National Securio/ Council (NSC) legal and policy· stcUf. Working with 
Dol's Office 9f Legal CotulSel (OLe), aGe determined that in most 
instances relevant to the counterterrorism detention and 
interrogation activities the criminal prohibition 
against torture, 18 U.S.C. 2340-2340B, is the controlling legai 

. consrraint on interrogations of detainees outSide the United States. In 
August 2002, DoJ provided to the Agency a legal opinion in which it 
d~terrnined that 10 specific "Enhanced Interrogation Techniques" 
(EITs) would not'viclate the torture prohibition. This work provided 
the foundation for the policy and adminiStrative decisions that guide 
the eTC Program. 

7. ~ By November 2002, the Agency had Abu 
Zubaydah and another value detainee, 'Abd_Al-Rahim 
Al-Nashiri, in custc 

prOVided medi~al care to the det~inees, 

I. 

1-



From the beginning, aGe briefed DO officers 
assigned to thes~acilities on their legal authorities, and Agency 
personnel staffing these facilities documented interrogations and the 
condition of detainees in cables. 

10. ~ There were few instances of deviations 
from"approved procedur with one 
notable exception described in this Review. With respect to two 
detainees at those sites, the use and frequency of one EIT, the 
waterboard, went beyond the projected use of the technique as 
originally described to DoJ. The Agency, on 29 July 2003, secured 
oral DoJ concurrence that certain deviations are not significant for 
purposes of Dars legal opinions. 

5 



15. ~ Agency efforts to 'provide systematic, 
clear and'timely guidance to those involved in the eTC Detention, 
and Interrogation Program was inadequate at first but have 
improved considerably during the life of the Program as problems 
have been identified and addressed. eTC implemented training 
programs for interrogators and debriefers.6 Moreover, building upon 
operational and legal guidance previously sent to the field, the DCI 

6 ~ Before 11 September (9/11) 2001, Agency personnel sometimes used the 
terms interrogation/interrogator and debriefing/debriefer interchangeably, The use of these terms has 
since evolved and, today, ere more clearly distinguishes their meanings. A debriefer engages a 
detainee solely through question and answer. An interrogator is a person who completes a 
two-week interrogations training program, which is designed to train, qualify, and certify a 
person to administer EITs. An interrogator can administer EITs during an interrogation of a 
detainee only after the Held, in coordination with Headquarters, assesses the detainee as 
withholding information. An interrogator transitions the detainee from a non-cooperative to a 
cooperative phase in order that a debriefer can elidt actionable int~lligence throilgh 
non-aggressive techniques during' debriefing sessionS. An interrogator may debrief a detainee 
during an interrogation; however, a debriefer may not interrogate a detainee. 

6 
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on 28 January 2003 signed "Guidelines on Confinement Conditions 
for CIA " and "Guidelines on Interro Conducted 

be made aware of the 
guidelines and sign an acknowledgment ~at they have read them. 
The DCI Interroga.tion Guidelines make formal the- existing eTC 
practice of requiring the field to obtain specific Headquarters 
approvals prior to the application of all EITs. Although the DCI 
Guidelines are- an improvement over the absence of such DCI 
Guidelines in the past, they still leave substantial room for 
misinterpreta tion and do not cover all Agency detention and 
interrogation activities. 

16. ~ The Ag~ncy's detention and interrogatio~ 
of terrori~ts has provided intelligence that has enabled the 
identification and apprehension of other terrorists and warned of 
terrorist plots planned .for the United States and around the world. 
The eTC Program has resulted in the issuance of thC?usands of 
individuc:U intelligence reports and analytic products supporting the 
counterterrorism efforts of U.S .. policym.akers and military 
commanders. 

17. The current eTC Detention and 
Interrogation gram been subject to D9J legal review and 
Administration approval but diverges sharply from previous Agency 
policy and rules that govern interrogc:ttio~ by U.S. military and law 
enforcement officeJ;s. Officers are concerned that public revelation of 
the eTC Program will seriously damage Agency officers' personal 
reputations, as well as the reputation and effectiveness of the Agency 
itself. 

18. recognized that detainees may 
be held in U.S. Government custody indefinitely if appropriate law 
enforcement jurisdiction is not asserted. Although there has been 
ongoing discussion of the issue inside the Agency and among NSC, 

7 
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. Defense Department, and Justice pepartment officials, no decisions 
on any "endgame" for Agency detainees have been made. Senior 
Agency officials see this -aq a policy issue for the U.S. Government 
rather than a CIA issue. Even with Agency initiatives to address the 
endgame with policymakers, some detainees who cannot be 
prosecuted will likely remain in CIA custody indefinitely. 

19 .. ~ The Agency faces potentially serious 
long-term political and legal challenges as a result of the eTC _ . 
'Detention and Interrogation Program, particularly its use of EITs and 
. the inability of the U.S. Goyemment to decide what it will ultimately 
do with terrorists detained by the Agency. 

20. ~ 'This Review makes a number of 
recopnnendations that are designed to strengthen the management 
and conduct of Agency detention and interrogation activities. 
Although ~e DCI Guideliries were an important step forward, they 
were only designed to address the eTC Pro rather -all 

tion activities. 

t 
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BACKGROUND 

22~ ~ The Agency has had intermittent involvement in the 
interrogation of individuals whose interests are opposed to those of 
the United States. After the Vietnam War, Agency personnel 
experienced in the field of interrogations left the Agency or moved to 
other assignments. In the early 1980s, a resurgence of mterest in 
teaching interrogation techniques developed as one of several 
methods to fos~er foreign liaison relationships. Because of political 
sensitivities the ~en-Deputy Director of Central Intelligence (DDCI) 
forbade Agency officers from using the word "interrogation.11 The 
Agency· then. developed the Human Resource Exploitation (HRE) . 
training program designed to train foreign liaison services on 
interrogation techniques. 

. 23. ~ In 1984, OIG investigated allegations 6f misconduct on 
the part of two Agency officers who were involved in interro tions 
and the death of one individ 

FollOWing that investigation, the Agency 
took steps to ensure Agency personnel understood its policy on 
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interrogations, debriefings, and human rights issues. Headquarters 
sent officers to brief Stations and Bases and provided cable guidance 
to the field. . 

24. ~ In 1986, the Agency ended the HRE training'prog~am 
because of alle tions of human' ts abuses in Latin America. 

which remains in effect, explains the Agency's general interrogation 
po~cy: 

}. 

I· 

! 

\ 

.l 

l. 

I 
I 



( DISCUSSION 

GENESIS OF POST 9/11 AGENCY DETENTION AND INTERROGATION 

ACTIVITIES 

25.~ 
in detentions and interrogations is 

the National Se 

27. ~. The DCI delegated responsibility for 
implementation to the DDO and D fCTC. Over time.' 
eTC also solicited from other Agency components, 
including aGe, OMS and OT5. 

7 (U / /FOUO) Do] takes the position that as Commander-in-Chief, the President independently 
has the Article 11 constitutional authority to order the detention and interrogation of enemy 
combatants to gain intell information. 
8 
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To assist Ag 
and . . ations 

OGC res~arched, analyze.d, 'and 
issues. These included 

.papers with Agency officers responsible 

THE CAPTURE OF ABU ZUBA YDAH AND DEVELOPMENT OF EITs 

30. ~ The capture of senior AI-Qa'ida operative 
Abu Zubaydah on 27 March 2002 presented the Agency with the 
opportunity to obtain actionable intelligence on future threats to the 
United States from the most senior AI-Qa'ida member in U.S. custody 
at that time. This accelerated CIA's t of an . alion 

12 
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31. ~ To treat the severe wounds that Abu . 
Zubaydah suffered upon his capture, the Agency provided him 
intensive medical care from the outset and ~eferred his questioning 
for several weeks pending his recovery. The Agency then assembled 
a team that interrogated Abu Zubaydah 

elicitation techniques. 

ding imminent threat information . 

. 32. ~) Several months earlier, in late 2001, CIA 
had tasked an independent contractor psychologist, who had. 
_experience in the U.S. Air Force's Survival, Evasion, 
.~ce, ar:td Escape (SERE) training program, to research and . 
write a paper on Al-Qa'ida's resistance to interrogation techniques.13 

This psychologist co . with a Department of Defense (DoD) 
'psychologist who had SERE experience in the U.S. Air 
Force and DoD to paper, 11Recognizing and D.eveloping 
Counterme~sures to AI-Qa'ida Resistance to Interrogation 
Techniques: A Resistance Training Perspective.11 Subsequently, the 
two psychologists d~veloped a list of riew and more aggressive EITs 
that they recorrunencled for use in interrogations. 

12 

13 (UIIPOUO) The SERE training program falls under the DoD Joint Personnel Recovery 
Agency (JPRA). JPRA is r~sponsible for missions to include the training for SERE and Prisoner of 
War and Missing In Action operational affairs including repatriation. SERE Training is offered 
by the U,S. Army, Navy, and Air Force to its personnel, particularly air crews and special 
operations forces wh~ are of greatest risk of being captured during military operations. SERE 
students are taught how to survive in vaIjous terrain, evade and endure captivity, resist 
interrogations, and conduct themselves to prevent harm to themselves and fellow prisoners of 
war. 
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33. CIA's OTS obtained data, on the use of the 
proposed EITs potential1ong-term psychological effects on " 
detainees. OTS input was based in part on information solicited from 
a number "of psychologists and knowledgeable academics in the area 
of psychopathology. 

34. ~ OTS also solicited mput from DoD/Joint 
Personnel Recove"ry ency (JPRA) regarding techniques used in its 
SERE training and any subsequent psychological effects on students. 
DoD IJPRA concluded no long-term psychological effects resulted 
from use of the EITs, including the most taxing technique, the 
waterboard, on SERE students.14 The OTS analysis was used by aGe 
in evaluating the legality of teclmiques. 

35. Eleven EITs were proposed -for adoption 
in the eTC Interrogation Program. As proposed, use of EITs would 
be subject to a competent evaluation of the medical and psychological 
state of the detainee. The A cy eliminated one proposed 
techniq er learnirig from DoJ that this could 
delay the 1 following textbox identifies the 10 EITs 
the Agency described to Do]. 

14 ~ According to individuals with authoritative kilOwledge of the SERE program, the 
waterboard was used for demonstration purposes on a very small number of students in a class. 
Except for Navy SERE training, use of the waterboard was discontinued because of its dramatic 
effect on the smdents who were subjects. 

14 
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Enhanced Interrogation Techniques 

+ The attention grasp consists of grasping the detainee with both hands, with one 
hand on each side of the collar opening, in a controlled and quick motion. In the 
same motion as the grasp, the detainee is drawn toward the interrogator. 

• During the walling technique, the detainee is pulled forward and then quickly and 
'finnly pushed into a flexible false wall so that his shoulder blades hit the wall. His 
head and neck are supported with a rolled towel to prevent whiplash. 

+ The facial hold is us~d to hold the detainee's head immobile. The interrogator 
places an op~n palm on either side of the detainee's face and the interroga~or's 
fingertips are kept well away from the detainee's eyes. 

• With the facial or insult slap, the fingers are slightly spread apart. The 
interrogator's hand makes contact with the area between the tip of the detainee's 
chin and the bottom of the corresponding earlobe. 

• In cramped confinement, the detainee.is placed in a confined space, typically a 
small or large box, which is usually dark. Confinement in the smaller space lasts 
no more than two hours and in the larger space it can last up to 18 hours. 

• Insects placed in a confinement box involve placing a harmless insect in the box 
with the detainee. 

+ During wall standing, file detainee may. stand about 4 to 5 feet from a wall with 
his feet spread approximately to his shoulder width. His arms are stretched out in 
front of him and hlsfingers rest on the wall to support all of his body weight. The 
detainee is not allowed to reposition his hands or feet. 

• The application of stress positions may include having the detainee sit on file floor 
with his legs extended straigh t out in fn;mt of him with his anns raised above his 
head or kneeling on the floor while lea~g back'at a 45 degree angle. 

+ Sleep deprivation will not exceed 11 days at a time. 

+ The application of the waterboard technique involves binding the detainee to a 
bench with his feet elevated above his head. The detainee's head is inunobilized 
and an interrogator places~a cloth over the detainee's mouth and nose while 
pouring water onto the cloth in a controlled manner. Airflow is restricted for 20.to 
40 seconds and the technique produces the sensation of drowning and suffocation. 
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Do! LEGAL ANALYSIS 

CIA's aGe sought guidance from DoJ 
bounds of EITs vis-a-vis individuals detained 

The ensuing legal opinions focus on 
the Convention Against Torture and Other ,Cruel, Inhumane and 
Degrading Treatment or Punishment (Torture Convention},15 
especially as implemented in the U.S. criminal code, 18 U.S.C. 2340-
2340A. 

37. (U / /FOUO) The Torture Convention specifically prohibits 
"torture," which it defines in .Article 1 as: . 

. any act by which severe pain or suffering, whether physical or 
·mentat is intentionally inflicted on a person for such purposes as 
obtaining from rum or a third person information or a confession, 
punishing him for an act he or a third person has committed or is 
suspected of having committed, or intimidating or coercing him or 
a third person, or for any reason based on discrimination of any 
kind, when such pain or suffering is inflicted by or at the· 
instigation of or with the consent or acquiescence of a public official 
or other person acting in an official capacity. It does not include 
pain or suffering arising only from, inherent in or incidental to' 
lawful sanction. [Emphasis added.] 

Article 4 of the Torture Convention provIdes that states party to the. 
Convention are to ensure that all acts of "torture" are offenses under 
their criminal laws. Article 16 additionally provides that each state 
party "shall undertake to prevent in any territory under its 
jurisdiction other acts of cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or 
punishment which do not amount to acts of torture as defined in 
Article 1.11 

15 CUIIFOVO) Adopted 10 December 1984,S. Treaty Doc. No. 100-20 (1988) 1465 V.N.T.S. 85 
(entered into force 26 June 1987). The Torture Convention entered into force for the United States 

. on 20 November 1994. 
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38. (VIIFOVO) The Torture Convention appli~s to the United 
States only in accordance with the reservations and understandings 
made by the United States at the time of ratification.16 As explained 
to the Senate by the Executive Branch prior to ratification: 

Article 16 is arguably broader than existing U.S. law. The phrase 
"cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or p·unishmentfl is a 
standard formula in international instruments and is found in the 
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the International Covenant 

. on Civil and Political Rights, and the European Conventionon 
Human Rights. ·To the extent the phrase has been interpreted in the 
context of those agreen:tents, II cruel " and "inhuman" treatment or 
punishment appears to be roughly equivalent to the treatment or 
punishment barred in the United States by the Fifth, Eighth and 
Fourteenth Amendments. tiDe grading" treatment or punishment, 
.however, has been interpreted as potentially including treatment 
that would probably not be prC?hihited by .the U.S. Constitution. 
·[Citing a ruling that German refusal to recognize individual's 
gender change might be considered I'degrading" treatment.] To 
make clear that the United States construes the phrase to be 
coextensive with its constitutional guarantees against cruel, . 
unusual; and inhumane treatment, the following understanding is 
recorrunended: 

"The United States understands the term 'cruel, inhuman or 
degrading treatment or punishment,' as u·sed in Article 16 of 
the Convention, to mean the cruel, unusual, and inhumane . 
treatment or punishment prohibited by the Fifth, Eighth 
arid/ or Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the 
United States. lll7 [Emphasis added.] 

16 (U) Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, 23 May 1969, 1155 V.N.T.S. 331 (entered into 
force 27 January 1980). The United States is not a party to the Vienna Convention on treaties, but 
it generally regards its provisions as customary intemationallaw. 

17 (VIIFOUO) S. Tre~ty Doc. No. 100-20, at 15-16. 



39. (U / /FOUO) In accordance with the Convention, the 
United States criminaIized acts of torture in 18 U.S.C. 2340A(a), 
which provide$ as follows: 

Whoever outside the United States commits or attempts to commit 
torture shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 
20 years, or both, and if death results to any person from conduct 
prohibited by this subsection, shall be punished by death or 
imprisoned for any term of years or for life. 

The statute adopts the Convention definition of "torturell as lIan act 
committed by a person acting under the color of law specifically 
intended to inflict severe physical or mental pain or suffering (other 
than pain or suffering incidental to lawful sanctions) upon another 
.person withln his custody or physical control. II IS "Severe physical 
pain ·and sufferingll is not further defined, but Congress added a 
definition of "severe mental pain or suffering:!! 

[T]he prolonged mental harm caused by or resulting from-

(A) the intentional infliction or threatened infliction of severe 
physical pain or suffering; . 

(B) the administration or application, or threatened 
administration or· application, of mind-altering substances or 
other procedures calculated to disrupt profoundly the senses or 
the personality; 

(C) the threat of imminent death; or 

(D) the threat that another person will imminently be subjected. 
to death, severe physical pain or suffering, or the administration 
or application of mind-altering substances or other procedures 
calculated to disrupt profoundly the senses or personality ... .19 

These statutory definitions are consistent with the understandings 
and reservations of the United States to the Torture Convention. 

18 (UI/FOUO) 18 U.S.C. 2340(1). 

19 (UI/FOUO) 18 U.s.C. 2340(2). 
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40. (U / /FOUO) Do] has ~ever prosecuted a violation of the 
torture statute, lBlJ.S,C. §2340, and there is no case law construing 
its provisions. aGe presented the results of its research into relevant' 
issues under U.S. and international law to DoJ's ote in.the summer 
of 2002 and received a preliminary summary of the elements of the 
torture statute from OLe in July 2002. An Unclassified 1 August 2002 
OLC legal memorandum set out OLeis conclusions regarcling the 
proper interpretation of the torture statute and concluded that 
"Section 2340A proscribes acts inflicting, and that are specifically 
:intended to inflict, severe pain or suffering whether mental'or 
physical.,"20 Also, OLC stated that the acts must be of an Ilextreme 
nature" anq that "certain acts may be cruel, inhuman, or degrading, 
but still not produce pain' and suffering of the "requisite intensity to 
fall withln Section 2340A's proscription against torture. 11 Further 
~escribing the requisite level of futended pain, OLe stated: 

Physical pain amounting to torture must be equivalent in intensity 
to the pain accompanying serious physical injury, such as organ 
.failure, impairment of bodily function, or even death. For purely 
mental pain or suffering to amolUlt to torture und,er Section 2340, it 
must result in significant psychological harm of significant 
duration, e.g., lasting for months o~ even years.21 , 

OLe determined that a violation of Section 2340 requires that the 
infliction of severe pain be the defendant's Itprecise objective. 11 OLC: 
also concluded that necessity or self-def~nse might justify 
mterrogation methods that would otherwise violate Section 2340A.22 
The August 2002, OLe opinion did not, address whether any other 
provisions of U.S. law are relevant to the detention, treatment, and 
interrogation of detainees outside the United States.23 

20 (U I IPOUO) Legal ~emorandum, Re: S~andards of Conduct for Interrogation under 
18 U .S.c. 2340-2340A (1 August 2002). 

21 (U/IPOVO) Ibid., p.l. 

22 (UIIPOUO) Ibid., p. 39. 

23 (U / / FOUO) OLC's analysis of the torture statute was guided in part by judicial decisions 
under the Torture Victims Protection Act (TYPA) 28 U.S.C.1350, which provides a tort remedy 
for victims of torture. OLC noted that the courts in this context have looked at the entire course 



41. (U I IFOVO) A second unclassified 1 August 2002 OLe 
opinion addressed the intemationallaw aspects of such 
interrogations.24 This opinion concluded that interrogation methods 
that do not violate 18 U.S.C. 2340 would not violate the Torture 
Convention and would not come within the jurisdiction of the 
International Criminal Court. 

42. ~ In-addition to the two unclassified 
opinions, OLe produced another legal opinion on 1 August 2002 at 
the request of CIA.25 (Appendix C.) This opinion, addressed to 
CIA's Acting General Counsel, discussed whether the proposed use 
of EITs in interrogating Abu Zubaydah woul~ violate the Title 18 
prohibition on torture. The opinion concluded that use of E-ITs on 
Abu Zubaydah would not violate the torture statute because, among 
otherthings, Agency personnel: (1) would not specifically intend to 
inflict severe pain or suffering, and (2) would not in fact inflict severe 
pain or suffering. 

43. 1his OLe opinion was based upon 
specific representations by CIA concerning the manner in which EITs 
would be applied in the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah. For 
example, OLe was told that the EIT lIphase" would likely last linD 

more than several days but could last up to thirty days." The EITs 
would be 1l:Sed on "an as-needed basis 11 and all would not necessarily 
be used .. Further, the EITs were expected to be used "in some sort of 
escalating fashion, culmin~ting wi th the w a t~rboard though not 
necessarily ending with this technique." Although some of the EITs 

of conduct, although a single incident could constitute torture. OLe also noted that courts may 
be willing to find a wide range of physical pain can rise to the level of "severe pain and 
suffering." Ultimately, however, OLe concluded that the cases show that only acts "of an 
e:l<.treme nature have been redressed under the TVPA's civil remedy for torture." White House 
Counsel Memorandum at 22 - 27. 

24 (U//FOUO) OLC Opinion by John C. Yoo, Deputy Assistant Attorney General, OLe 
(1 Au~t2002). _ 

25 ~ Memorandum for John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel of the Central 
Intelligence.Agency, ."Interrogation of al Qaida Operative" (1 August 2002) at 15. 
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might be used more than once, l'that repetition. will not be substantial 
because the techniques generally lose their effectiveness after several 
repetitions." With respect to the waterboard, it was . explained that: 

... the individual is bound securely to an inclined bench .... The 
individual's feet are generally elevated. A Cloth is placed over the 
forehead and eyes. Water is 'then applied to the cloth in a 
controlled manner. As this is done, the cloth is lowered until it 
covers both the nose and mouth. Once the cloth is saturated and 
completely covers the mouth and nose, the air flow is slightly 
restricted for 20 to 40 seconds due to the presence of the cloth. This 
causes an increase in c~rbon dioxiqe level in the individual's blood. 
This increase in the carbon dioxide level stimulates increased effort 
to breathe. Thls effort plus' the cloth produces the perception of 
"suffocation and incipient panic," i.e., the perception of drOWning. 
The individual does not breathe water into his lungs. During those 
20 to 40 seconds, water is continuously applied from a height of [12 
to 24] inches. After this period, the cloth is lifted, and the 
individual is allowed to breathe W1impeded for three or four full 
breaths. The sensation of drowning is immediately relieved by the 
removal of the cloth. The procedure may then be repeated. The 
water is usually applied from· a canteen cup or small watering can 
'with a spout. ... [T]his procedure triggers an automatic 
physiological sensation of drowning that the individual cannot 
control even though he may be aware that he is in fact not 
drowning. [Ilt is likely that this procedure would not last more 
than 20 minutes in anyone application. 

Finally, the Agency presented OLe with a psychological profile of 
Abu Zubaydah and with the conclusions of officials and 
psychologists associated with t~e SERE program that ~he use of EITs 
would cause no long term mental harm. OLe relied on these 
representations to support its conclusion that no physical harm or 
prolonged mental harm would result from the use on him of the ' 
EITs, including the waterboard. 26 

26 ~_ According to the Chiet Medical Servic~s, OMS was neither consulted nor 
involved in the initial analysis of the risk and benefits of EITs, nor provided with the OTS report 
cited in the OLC opinion. In retrospect, based on the OLe extracts of the OTS rep<;>rt, OMS 
contends that the reported sophistication of tile preliminary EIT review was exaggerated, at least 
as it related to the waterboard, and that the power of this EIT was appreciably overstated in the 
report. Furthermore, OMS contends that the expertise of the SERE psychologist/interrogators on 



( 

( 

44. OGC continued to consult with DoJ as the 
CTC Interrogation Program and the use of EITs expanded beyond the 
interrogation of Abu Zubaydah. This resulted in the production of 
an undated and unsigne.d .document entitled, ilLegal Principles 
Applicable to CIA Detention and Interrogation of Captured 
Al-Qa'ida Personnel."27 According to OGe, this analysis was fully 
coordinated with and drafted in' substantial part by OLC. In additioh 
to'reaffirming the previous conclusions regarding the torture statute, . 
the analysis concludes that the federal War Crimes statute, 18 U.S.C. 
2441, does not apply to"Al-Qa'ida l?ecause members of that-group are 
not entitled to prisoner of war status. The analysis adds that lithe 
[Torture) Convention permits the use of [cruel, inhuman, or 
degrading treatment] in exigent circumstances, such as a national 
emergency or war," It also states that the interrogation of Al-Qa'ida 
members does not violate the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments 
because those provisions do not apply extraterritorially, nor does it 
violate the Eighth Amendffient·becaw;e it only applies to persons 
upon whom criminal sanctions hav~ been imposed. Finally, the 
analysis states that a wid~ range of EITs and other techniques would 
not constitute conduct of the type that would be prohibited by the 
Fifth, Eighth, or Fourteenth Amendments even were they to be 
applicable: 

The use of the following techniques and of comparable, approved 
tec.hiUques does not vIolate a.ny Federal statute or other law, where 
the CIA interrogators do not specifically intend to cause the 
detainee to undergo severe physical or mental pain or suffering 
(Le., they act with the good faith belief that their conduct will not 
cause such pain <?r suffering): isolation, reduced caloric intake (so 
long as the amount is calculated to maintain the general health of 
the detainees), deprivation of reading material, loud music or white 

the waterboard was probably misrepresented at the time, as the SERE waterboard experience is 
so different from the subsequent Agency usage as to make it ahnost irrelevant. Consequently, 
according to OMS, there was no a priori reason to believe that applying the waterboard with the 
frequency ~d intensity with which it was used by the psychologisUinterrogators was either 
efficacious or medically safe. 

27 ~ "Legal Ptinciples Applicable to CIA and Interrogation of 
Captured AI-Qa'ida Personnel," attached June 2003). 
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noise (at a de'cibellevel calculated to avoid damage to the 
detainees' hearing), the attention grasp, walling, the facial hold, the 
facial slap (insult slap), the abdominal slap, cramped confin~ment, 
wall standing, stress positions, sleep deprivation, the use of 
diapers, the use of harmless insects, and the water board. 

According to OGe., this·analysis embodies Do] agreement that the 
reasoning of the classified 1 August 2002 OLe opinion extends 
beyond the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah and the conditions that 
were specified in that opinion. 

NOTICE TO AND CONSULTATION M1H EXECUTIVE AND CONGRESSION1).L 

OFFICIALS 

45. ~ At th~ same time that OLe was rev.iewing 
the legality of EITs in the summer of 2002, file Agency was consulting 

: with NSC policy staff and senior Administration officials. The DCI 
briefed appropriate senior national security and legal officials on the 
proposed EITs. In the fall of 2002, the Agency briefed the leadership 
of the Congressional Intelligence Oversight Committees on the use of 
both standard techniques and BITs. 

46. ~ In early 2003, CIA officials, at the urging 
. of the General Counsel., continued to inform senior Administration 
officials and the leadership.of the Congressional Oversight 
Committees of .the then-current status of the eTC Program. The 
Agency specifically wanted to ensure that these officials and the 
Committees continued to be aware of and approve CIA's actions, 
The General Counsel recalls that he spoke and met with White House 
Counsel and others at the NSC., as well as Dol's Criminal Division 
and Office of Legal Counsel beginning in December 2002 and briefed 
them on the scope and breadth of the eTC's Detention and 
Interrogation Program. 

47. Representatives of the DO, in the 
presence of the Director of Congressional Affairs and the G.eneral 
Counsel., continued to brief the leadership of the Intelligence 
Oversight Committees on the use of EITs and detentions ill February 

23 
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and March 2003. The General Counsel says that none of the 
participants expressed any c<?ncem about the techniques or the 
Program. 

48.· On 29 JUly 2003, the DCI and the General 
Counsel provided a detaileq briefing to selected NSC Principals on 

. ·(:IA's detention and interrogation efforts involving "high value 
detainees/' to include the expanded use of EITS.28 According to a 
Memorandum for the Record prepared by the General Counsel 
following that meeting, the Attorney General confirmed that DoJ 
approved of the expanded use of various EITs, including multiple 
applications of the waterboard.29 The General COlU1Sel said he 
believes everyone in attendance was aware of exactly what CIA was 
doing with respect to detention and interrogation, and approved of 
the effort. According to aGC, the senior officials were again briefed 
regarding the eTC· Program on 16 September 2003, and the 
Intelligence Committee leadership was briefed again in September 
2003. Again, according to OGe, none at those involved in these 
briefings-expressed ~y reservations about the program. 

GUIDANCE ON CAPTURE., DETENTION, AND INTERROGATION 

49. ~ Guidance and training are fundamental 
to the success and integrity of any endeavor as operationally, 
politically, and legally complex as the Agency's Detention and 
Interrogation Progr~m. Soon after 9/11, the DDO issued . 'dance on 
the ........ 1" ...... ..", ...... ,1- ~ .. ~,..rra~C> 

50. ~ The DCL in January 2003 approved 
formal "Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees" 
(Appendix D).and IIGuidelines on Interrogations Conducted 

August 2003). 
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to the DCI Guidel i r--:es, f-l2L-:,-i_ilt::rtc'L:' r;-',J',j,jcd ;;U1C: ,; T1~_'t~' -.' :,~i ir ft)rrnal 

briefings and eJectr'_'Iii,,:: '::>.)illrnunj(Jtjc,~·,:-, tc in'-.:]udt:· (Jbk: L-o;r: CIA 
He uarters! to the' field, 

51. ~) In 0.iU''-t.'i11ber 2i.)CC, LTC initiated lrai.ning 

courses for indi vid uals in \'oh'cd tn in tcrrog;l hOrls. 
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DCI Confinen1ent Guidelines 

57. 

The JanuJr)' 2007, 
DCI Guidelines govern the condi lions of confinernent for CLD, 

<-. 

detainees held in cieten bon f a.ci lj ties 
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They must . 
review the Guidelines and sign a.n JckrloT\\'ledgment that they have 
done so. 

59. The DCl (~uidclinE's specify' legal 
"minimums" and require that "due pruvision Inllst be taken to protect 
the health and safelv of (ll] C!/\ detC1tnees." The GLudelines do not 

J 

require that condi ti ons () r c()nfi nl~lncn t (1 t the de ten ti on facilities 
co~orm to U.S. prison or other stJ.ndzncis. At J. nuninluffi, however, 
detention facilities are to provide basic lc\'els of 111edical care: 

Further, the guidelines prcr, . .-ide that: 

t 
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[ 
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DCI Interrogation Guidelines 

60. ~ Prior to January 2003, eTC' and aGe 
disseminated guidance via cables, e-mail, or orally on a case-by-case 
b.asis to address requests to use specific ~tertogation techniques .. 
Agency management did not require those involved in interrogations 
to sign an acknowledgement that they had read, understood, or ' 
agreed to comply with the guidance provided. Nor did the Agency 
maintain a comprehensive record of individuals who had been 
briefed on interrpgation procedures. 

futerr.ogation Guidelines require that personnel directly engaged 
in the interrogation of persons detained have reviewed these 
Guidelines, received appropriate training in their implementatiqn, 
and have completed the applicable acknowledgement. 

.62. (S'tfNEl The DCI Interrogation Gui~elines define 
"Permissible lrtterrogation Techniques" and specify that "unless 
otherwise approved by Headquarters, CIA officers and other 
personnel acting on behalf of CIA may use only Permissible 
Interrogation Techniques. Permissible Interrogation Techniques· 
consist of both (a) Standard Techniques and (b) Enhanced 



( 
Techniques.'~33 EITs require advance approval from Headquarters, as 
do standard techniques whenever fea~ible. The field must document 
the use of both standard techniques oand EITs. 

63. ° The DCI Interrogation Guidelines define 
"standard interrogation techniques ll as techniques that do not 
incorporate significant physical or psychological pressUre. These 
techniques include, but are not limited to, all lawful fonns of 
questioning employed by U.S. law enforcement and military 
interrogation personnel. Among standard interrogation techniques 
are the use of isolation, sleep d~privation not to exceed 72 hours.r34 
reduced caloric intake (so longOas the amount is calct1-lated to 
maintain the general health of the detainee), deprivation of reading 

° material, use of loud music or white noise (at a decibel level 
calculated to avoid damage to the detainee's hearing), the use of 

ers for limited ods not to exceed 72 hours. 
and moderate o 

ps pressure. tion Guidelines do not 
specifically prohibit improvised actions. A eTC/Legal officer has 
said, however.r that no one may e~pl~y any technique outside 
specifically identified standard techniques without Headquarters 
approval. 

64. ~ EITs include physical ac~ons and are 
defined as olltechniques that do incorporate physical or psychological 
pressure beyond Standard Techniques," Headquarters must approve 
the use of each specific EIT in advance.

o 

Errs may be employed only 
by trained and certified interrogators for use with a sp~cific detainee 
and with appropriate medical and psychological monitoring of the 
process.35 

33 ~ The 10 approved Errs are described in the textbox on page 15 of this Review. 

34 ~ According to the General CounseI., in late December 2003, the period for 
sleep deprivation was reduced to 48 hours. 

35~.". 



( 

( 

Medical Guidelines 

65. OMS prepared. draft gUidelines for 
C .. 11i"'\."Y'III" ... · ..... to detainee interro tions. 

Training for Interrogations 

In November 2002, 
initiated a pilot running ·of a two-week 

gator Training Course designed to train, qualify, an~ certify 
individuals as Agency interrogators.37 Several eTC officers, 

36 (U / / AIU 0) A 28 March 2003 Lotus Note from C /CfC/Legal advised Chief, Medical 
Services that the "Seventh Floor" "would need to approve the promulgation of any further formal 
guidelines. , .. For now, therefore, let's remain at the " 
37 
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completing the Interrogation Course are required to sign an 
acknowledgment that they have read" understand, and will comply 
with the DCI's Interrogation Guidelines. " 

69. ~ In J~e 2003" eTC established a debriefing 
course for Agency substantive exp.erts"who are involved in questioning 
detainees after they have tmdergone interrogation and have been 
deemed IIcornpliant. 1T The debriefing course was established to train 
non~interrogators to collect actionable intelligence from high value 
detainees in CIA custody. The coUrse is intended to familiarize 
non-.interrogators with key aspects of the Agency interrogation 
Program, to include the Program's goals aJ.1.d legal authorities, the DCI 
Interrogation Guidelines, and the roles and fes onsibilities of all who 
interact with a' value detainee", 

DETENIION AND INTERROGATION OPERATIONS AT 

33 
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psychologist/interrog·ators began Al-Nashii-i's interrogation using 
EITs immediately upon his arrival. Al-Nashiri provided lead 
information on other terrorists dur~st day of interrogation. 
On the twelfth day of interrogation~psychologist/ 
interrogators administered two applications of the waterboard to 
Al-Nashiri during two separate interrogation ses·sions. Enhanced 
in terr 0 tion of AI-Nashiri continued 4 December 2002. 

Videotapes of Interrogations 

77. ~ Headquarters had intense interest in 
1.'nl"'ll ......... ·...., ,,.. abreast of all aspects of Abu Zubaydah's interrogationll 

including compliance with the guidance provided to the 
site relative to the use of EITs. Apart from this however, and before 
the use of EITs~ the interrogation te : decided to 
videotape the interrogation sessions. One initial purpose was to 
ensure a record of Abu Zubaydah's medical condition and treatment 
should he succumb to his wounds and questions arise about ~e 
medical care provided to him by CIA. Another purpose was to assist 
ill the preparation of the debriefing reports, although the team 
advised CTC/Legal that they rarely, if ever, were used for that 
pUrpose. There are 92 videotapes, 12 of which include EIT 
applications. ~ OGe attorney reviewed the videotapes· in 
November and December 2002 to ascertain compliance with the 
August 2002 DoJ opinion and compare what actually happened with 
what was reported to Headquarters. He reported that there was nO 

deviation from the DoJ guidance or the written record. 

41 ~ For the purpose of this Review, a waterboard application constituted each 
discrete instance in which water was applied for any period of time during a session. 

36 
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Two others were blank"except for one or two minutes of 

recording. Two qthers were broken and could not be reviewed. OIG 
compared the videotapes to logs and cables and identified 

" a" 21-hour period of time" which included two waterboard sessions" 
tha t was not captured on the videotapes. 

79. " ~iG's review of the videotapes revealed 
that the waterboard technique emplqyed at as different 
from the technique as described in the DoJ opinion and used in the 
SERE trai..nffig. The difference was in the manner in which the 
detainee's breathing was obstructed. At the SERE School and in the 
Dol opinion". the 8ubject"s airflow is disrupted by the.firm application 
of a damp cloth over the air passages; the interrogator applies a small 
amount of water to tt011ed manner. By contrast; the 
Agency interrogator continuously applied large volumes 
of water to a cloth that covered the detainee"s mouth and nose. " One of 
the psychologists/interrogators ae.:knowledged that the Age~cy's use 
of the technique differed from that used in SERE training and 
explained that the Agencys technique is different because it is "for 
real" and is more poignant and c.onvincing. 

During this time" Headquarters issued 
the formal DCI Confinement Guiqelines" the DCI Interrogation 
Guidelines, and the additional draft guidelines specifically 

42 
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Guidance Prior to DCI Guidelines 

legal and operational 
briefings and cables that contained Headquarters~ 
guidance and discussed the torture stahtte and the DoJ legal opinion. 
eTC had 0 established a recedent of detailed cables between 

and Headquarters regarding the 
mterrogation . . The written guidance did 
not address the four standard interrogation techniques that, 
according to eTC/LegaL the Agency had iden~fied as early as 
November 2002.43 Agency personnel were authorized to employ 
standard interrogation techniques on a detainee without 
Headquarters' p.rior approval. The guidance did not specifically 

43~ The four standard interrogation techniques were: (1) sleep deprivation not to 
exceed 72 hours, (2) continual use of light or darkness in a c~ll, (3) loud music, and (4) white noise 
(background hum). . 
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address the use of props to imply a physical fu!eat to a detainee, nor 
qid it specifically address the issue of whether or not Agency officers 
could improvise with any. other techniques. No formal mechanisms 
were in place to ensure that personnel going to the·field were briefed 
on the existing legal and policy guidance. 

Specific Unauthorized or Undocumented Techniques 

90. ~ This Review heard-allegations of the use 
of ~authorized techniques The most significant, the 
handgun and power dri~l incident, discussed below~ is the subject of a 
separate OIG investigation. In addition, individuals mterviewed 
during the Review identified. other "techniques that caused concern 
because DoJ had not specifically approved them. These included the 
making of threats, blowing cigar smoke, employing certain stress 
positions, the use of a stiff brush on a detamee, and stepping .on a 
detainee's ankle shackles. For all of the instances, the allegations 
were disputed or too ambiguous to reach any authoritative 
determination regarding the facts. Thus, although these allegations 
are illustrative of the nature of the concerns held by individuals 
associated with the eTe Program and the need for clear guidance, 
they did not warrant separate investigations or administrative action. 

Handgun and Pow~r Drill 

91. . terrogation team members, 
whose purpose it was to in~l-Nashiri and debrief Abu 
Zubaydah., initi,ally staffed_ The interrogation team 
continued EITs on AI-Nashlri for two weeks in December 2002_ . 
they assessed him to be "C . t." Subs uen , eTe officers at 

t 
r operations ~"''''JL,,"'''''.1. 

to debrief and assess Al-Nashiri. 

92. The debriefer assessed AI-Nashiri as 
information,. at which point_reinstated" 
hooding, and handcuffing. Sometim~ between 



28 December 2002 and 1 January 2003, the debriefer used an 
unloaded semi-automatic handgun as a prop to frighten Al-Nashiri 
into disclosing information.44 After discussing this plan withll 
"the debriefer entered the cell where Al-Nashiri sat shackled and 
racked the handgun once or twice close to AI-Nashiri's head.45 On 
what was probably the sa~e debriefer used a power drill to 
frighten Al-Nashiri. Wi~consent, the debriefer entered 
the detainee's cell and revved the drill while the detainee stood 
naked and hooded. The debriefer did not touch Al-Nashiri with the 
power drill. 

93. ~ Th d debriefer did not request 
authorization -or report the use of these llllauthorized techniques to 

. However, in January 2003, newly arrived TOY officers 
ho had learned of these incidents repoited them to 

Headquarters. OIG investigated and. referred its findings to the 
Criminal Division of Do J. On 11 September 2003, Do J declined to 
prosecute and turned these matters over to CIA for disposition. 
These incidents are the subject of a separate OIG Report of 
Investigation.46 

Threats 

94-. During another incident 
same Headquarters debriefer, according to 
was present, threatened _Al-Nashiri by saying ·that if he did not-talk, 
"We could g!iii!t our mother in here/' and, "We can bring your family 
in here." Th debriefer reportedly wanted Al-Nashiri 
to infer, for psychologica reasons, that the debriefer might b_ 

. . ence officer based on his Arabic dialect and that Al-
Nashiri was because it was widely believed in 
Middle East tion technique involves 

44 ~ This individual was not a trained interrogator and was not authorized to use EITs. 

45 CU / I FOUO) Racking is a mechanical procedure used with firearms to ch~ber a bullet or 
simulate a bullet being chambered. - -

46 ~ Unauthorized Interrogation Techniques 29 October 2003. 
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sexually abusing female relatives in front of the detainee. The 
debriefer denied threateiung AI-Nashiri through his family. The 
debriefer also said he did not explain whq he was or where he was 
from when talk' with Al-Nashiri. The debriefer said he never said 
h~ . telligence officet but let . 
Al- ........ u~ ......... ~ 

95. An experienced Agency interrogator 
,1"'\ t-' .... 1" .... ' ..... rr .... tors threatened Khalid 

indicate that the law had been Vl\J~'-'L"'''''\,A. 

Smoke 

Agen. 
t, m December 2002, he and another 

ked cigars and blew'smoke in 
AI-Nashin's face during an interrogation. The interrogator claimed 
they did this to "cover the stenchlt in the room and to help keep the . 
interrogators ale~t late at night. This interrogator said he would not 
do this again based on "perceived criticism.1t Another Agency 
interrogator admitted that he also smoked cigars during two sessions 
with AI-Nashiri to mask the stench in the room. He claimed he did 
not deliberately force smoke into AI-Nashlri's face. 
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Stress Positions 

97. OIG received reports that interrogation 
team members e potentially injurious stress positions on 
Al-N as hi ri. Al-Nashiri was required to kneel on the floor and lean 
back. On at least one occasion, an Agency officer reportedly pushed 
AI-Nashiri ba while he was·in this stress os'· On another 

he had to intercede 
~Xt)ref,sect concern that AI-Nashiri's arms . 

dislocated from his shoulders. _explC:lfned that, at the time, 
the interrogators were attempting to.put Al-Nasruri in a standing 
stress position. Al-Nashiri was reportedly lifted off the floor by his 
arms while his arms were bound behind his back with a belt. 

Stiff Brush and Shackles 

98. terrogator reported that 
he witness s use on ashiri that the 

. interrogator knew were not specifically approved by DoJ. These 
included the use of a stiff brush that was intended to induce pain on 
Al-Nashiri and standing on Al-Nashiri's shackles, which resulted in 
cuts and bruis~s. When questioned, an interrogator who was at 
~cknowledged that they used a stiff brush to bathe 

Al-Nashiri. He described the brush as the kind ofbq.lsh one uses in a 
bath to remove stubborn dirt. A eTC manager who had heard of the 
incident attributed the abrasions on.Al-Nashiri's ankles to an Agency 
officer accidentally stepping on AI-Nashiri's shackles while 
repositioning him into a stress position. 

Waterboard Technique 

99. The Review determined that the 
. interrogators used the waterboard on Khalid Shaykh Muhammad in 

a manner inconsistent with the SERE application of the waterboard 
and the description of the waterboard in the DoT OLC opinion, in·that 
the technique was used on Khalid Shaykh Muhammad a large 
number of times. According to the General Counsel, the Attorney 



( 
General acknowledged he is fully aware of the repetitive use of the 
waterboard and that CIA is \vell within the scope of the DoJ opinion 
and ~e authority given to CIA by that opinion. The Attorney 
General was informed the waterboard had been used 119 times on a 
single individ ual. 

100. (IS 
interrogat 
!<halid Sha 
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Specific Unauthorized or Undocumented Techniques 

. 164. but 
gency activity in 

that involved the use gatio:n techniques that . 
. quarters had not approved. Agency personnel 

reported a range of improvised actions that intE!rrogators and 
debriefers reportedly used at that time to assist in obtaining 
information from detainees. The extent of these actions is illustrative 
of the 'Consequences of the lack of clear guidance at that time and the 
Agency's insufncient attention to interroga'tions . 

165. 
two incidents: 
and the death a. at a , ase m 
Afghanistan (discussed further in paragraph 192) .. These two cases 
presented facts that warranted criminal . tions. Some of .the 
techniques discussed below were ~ed wi and will be 
further address~d in connection with a Rep 
In other cases of undocU1l).ented or unauthorized technique~, the facts 
are ambiguous or less serious, not warranting further investigation. 
Some actions discussed below were t~en by employees' or 
contractors no longer associated with the Agency. Agency 
manage:ment has also addressed administratively some of the actions. 

Pressure Points 

used a "pressu~e 
detainee's neck, 

July 2002 
operations officer, participa with another 

'-l.I.>iI'L'-J'-4.LLI..I,· of a detainee_ 
reportedly 

both of his hands on the 
m~nipulated his fingers 

to restrict the detainee's carotid artery. 
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167. howas 
facing the shackled detainee, watched his eyes .to the point 
that the detainee would nod and start to pass out; then, the 

shook the detainee to wake him. This 
....,"'OA.""'_ for a total of three applications on the detainee. 

ledged to OIG that he laid hands 
have made him . . he was going to lose 

consciousness. also noted that he ha_ 
years of experience debriefing and interviewing people and until 
recently had never been instructed how· to conduct interrogations. 

168. (S/tNE) eTC management is now aware of this reported 
incident, the se·verity of which was disputed. The use of pressure 

oints is ·and had not be~n, authorized, and eTC has advised. the 
t such actions are not authorized.-

Mock Executions 

169. The de~rie~oyed the 
handgun and power on ·AI-Nas~dvised that 

ctions were predicated on a technique lj.e had . ated in 
debriefer stated that when he w 

een tember and October 2002, 
fire a handgun outside the inter~ogation room debriefer 
was in was thought to be withholding . 
inforrnation.68 ged the incident, which 
screaming and·yelling outside the cell by other OA officers an 
guards. When the guards moved the detainee from the-interrogation 
room, they passed a guard who was dressed as a hooded detainee, 
lying motionless on the ground, and made to appear as if he had 
been shot to death. 
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170. ~ The debriefer claimed he did not think 

he needed to report this incident because th~ad 
openly discussed this pl~sever'a and 
after the incident. When the debriefer was la 
believed he needed a non-traditional technique to " 
detainee to cooperate, he told~e wanted to wave a !tandgun 
in front of the de~ainee to ~care him. The debriefer said he did not 
be~ieve he was required to notify Headquarters of this technique, 
citing the earlier, unreported mock executio~ 

171. A senior operations V'~"'JL'-v'" 
recounted that around September 2002~eard that the debriefer 
had staged a~mock executi~n, ~as not present b~t unders~ood it 
went ba~t was transparen~ruse and no "benefIt was derIved 
from it.~bserved that there is a need to be creative as long as it is 
not considered torture. _tated that if such a proposal were made 
now it would'involve a great deal of consultation. It would begin 

management and would inc~ude CTC/Legat 

172." ~ 'tted staging a IImock 
executiontl in the first days tha as open, According to the 

the technique was his idea but was not effective 
because it came across as being staged" It was based on the concept, 
from SERE school, of showing something that looks real, but is not. 
The that a particular eTC interrogator later 
'told him about employing a mock execution technique. The _ 

_ did not know when this incid~nt occurred or if it was 
successful. He viewed this technique as ineffective because it was not 
believable. ", 
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descrihed staging a mock execution of a detainee. 
y, a detainee who witnessed the 'tbodY"'in the aftermath of 

the ruse "sang like a bird." 

174. 
four days before mterview 
had conducted a mock execu . 

oximately 
stated he 

November 2002. Report~dly, the rearm was discharged outside-of 
the building, and it was done because the detainee reportedly 
poss.essed critical threat informati stated that he told 
the to d~e sta~ed that he has not heard 
of a similar act occurring _inee then. 

" '. 

Use of Smoke 

cigarette smoke was once used as an interro.c;.," ... .I.V.l.L 

October 2002. ortedly, at the request of 
interrogator, the not 

........ '-' ... 'ow from a thin cigarette / cig£l! in the detainee' s 
face for about five minutes. The de . e started talking so the 
smoke ceased. heard that a different 
officer had us sm as an interrogation techni~ 
questioned numerous personnel who had worke~bout 
the use of smoke as a technique. None reported any knowledge of 
the use of smoke as an interrogation technique. . 

that he has personally used smoke 
inhalation techniques on detaine"es to make them ill to the point 
where they would start to "purge." After this, in a weakened state, 
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inforrrlation?O denied ever physically 
abusing detainees or knowing anyone who has. 

Use of Cold 

Physical Comfort Level Deprivation: With use of a wffidow ·air 
conditioner and a judicious provision/ d~privation of warm 
clothing/bltinkets, believe we can increase [the detainee's] physical 

. discomfort level to the poinf where we may l~wer his 
mental/trained resistance abilities. 

eTC/Legal responded and advised, "[C]aution must be used when 
employing the air conditioning/blanket deprivation so that [the 
deta~ee's] dis.comfort does not)ead to a serious illness or worse." 

70 ~This was substantiated in part by the CIA officer who participated in this act with the 
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183. of the officers interviewed about 
as a technique cited that the water heater was 

inoperable and there was no other- recourse except for cold showers. 
However . that if a detainee was 
cooperative, he would be given a warm shower. He stated that when 
a detainee was uncooperative, the interrogators accomplished two 
goals by combining the hygienic reason for a shower with the 
unpleasantness of a cold shower. 

reported that a detainee was left in a cold" room, shackled and naked, 
until ~e demonstrated cooperation. 

"185. ~Whenaskedin~03,ifcold 
was used as an interrogation technique," the_esponded, 
linot per se." He explained that physical and environmental 
discomfort w age the detainees to improve their 
environment. erved that cold IS hard to define. He 
asked rhetorically, "How cold is cold? How cold is life threatening?" 
He stated that cold w"ater was still employed however, 
showers were administered in a heated room. He stated there was no 
specific guidance on it from Head~~as left to its 
own discretion in the use of cold. ~dded there is a cable 
from_documenting the use of IImanipulation of the 
environment. II . 

:t86. ~Although the DCI Guidelines do not 
mention cold as a techriique, the September 2003 draft OMS 
Guidelines on Medical and Psychological Support to Detainee 
Interrogations specifically identify an lIup.comforta~ly cool 
environment" as a standard interrogation measure. (Appendix F.) 
The OMS Guidelines provide detailed instructions of!. safe 
temperature ranges, including the safe temperature range when a 
detainee is we"t or unclothed. 
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Water Dousing 

187. According to and 
"water dousing" has been used 

~ince 'early 2003 . r,introduced 
e to the facility. 'Dousing involves l~ying a detainee 

down on a plastic sheet and pouring water over him for 10 to 
15 minutes. Another officer explained that the room was maintamed ' 
at 70 d~grees or more; the guards useq water that w~s at room 
temperature while the interrogator questioned the detainee. 

188. A review m April and 
May 2003 reve sought permission from 
CT~to employ specific techniques for a number of detainees. 
Included in the list of requested techniques was water dousing.72 

Subsequent cables report~d the use and duration of the techniques by 
detainee per interrogation session.73 One certified interrogator, 
noting that water dousing appeared to be a most effective technique, 
requested eTC to confirm guidelines on water dousing. A return, 
cable diIected that the detainee must be placed on a towel or sheet, 
may not be placed naked on the bare cement floor, and the air 
'temperature must exceed '65 degrees, if the detaine~ will not be dried 
immediately. 

189. The Del Guidelines do not mention 
water dousing as a . The 4 September 2003 draft OMS 
Guidelines, however, identify IIwater dousinglt as one of 12 standard 
measures that OMS listed, m ascending degree of intensity, as the 
11th standard measure. OMS did not further address lIwater 
dousing" in its guidelines. 
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Hard Takedown 

191. ~ According to the hard 
takedown ~as ~ interrogations a as "part of the 
atmospherics.'" For a time, it was the standard procedure for moving 
a detainee to the sleep deprivation cell. It~as done for shock and 
psychological impact and signaled the transition to another phase of 
the interrogation. The actof putting a: detainee into a diaper can 
cause abrasions if the detainee because the floor of the 
facility is concrete. The ted he did not discuss the 
hard take down with gers, but he tho 

ood what techniques were being used a 
ted that the hard take down had not been used ,..O""'O""'"t'I'U' 

After taking the interrogation class, he understood that if 



( 
he was going to do a hard takedown, he must report it to 
Headquarters. Although the DCI and OMS Guidelines address 
physical techniques an<;l treat them as requiring advance 
Headquarters approval, they do not otherw~se specifically address 
the IIhard takedown. 1I 

• 

192. stated that he was generally 
familiar with the technique of hard t*edowns. He asserted that they 

. d and believed they had been used one or more times at 
order to intimidate a detainee. stated that he 

w<;>uld not necessarily know if they have been used and did not 
consider it a serious enough handling technique to require 
Headquarters approval. Asked about the possibility that a detainee 
may have been dragged on th~ ground during the course of a hard 
takedown~esponded that he was unaware of that and did 

. the point ~f dragging someone ,along the corridor in 

Other Locations Outside of the eTC 

not within the scope of the 
orted in 

.................. "'"-",ad Base76 

194. ""(S;tNaInJune 2003, the U.S. military sought an Afghan 
citizen who had been implicated in rocket attacks on a joint U.S. 
Arinyand CIA position in 'Asadabad located in Northeast 
Mghanistan. On 18 June 2003, this individual appeared at Asadabad 
Base at the urging of the local Governor. The individual was held in 
a detention facility guarded by U.S. soldi~rs from the Base. During 

76 ~ For more than a year, ~IA referred to Asadabad Base 
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the four days the individual was detained, 'an Agency independent 
contractor, who was a paramilitary officer, is alleged to have ~everely 
beaten th~ detainee with a large metal flashlight and kicked him 
during interrogation,sessions. The detainee died in custody on 
21 ]lU1e; his body was turned over to a local cleric and returned to his 
family on the following date wifuout an autopsy being performed. 
Neither the contractor nor his Agency staff supe.rvisor had been 
trained or authorized to conduct mterrogations. The Agency did not 
reflew the independent contractor's contract, which was up for 
renewal soon after the incident. OIG is mvestigating this incident in . 
concert with DOJ.77 

195. ~ In July 20Q3 

The objective was to determine if anyone at 
1U._ ......... U.4 ...... "' ...... about the detonation of a remote­

controlled improvised explosive device that had killed eight border 
guards several days earlier. 

196. ~ A teacher being interviewed 
smiled and inappropriately, 

whereupon used the butt stock of his rifle 
to strike or "buttstroke" the teacher at least twice in his torso, 
followed by several knee kicks to his. torso. This incident was 
witnessed by 200 students. The teacher was reportedly not seriously 
injured. In res onse to his actions, Agency management returned the 

to Headquarters. He was counseled and 
given a dO,mestic assignment. 
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ANALYTICAL SUPPOHT TO 10.T[Rl"{OGATIO.\:_~ 

204. ~) [)irCt~ r:ltl' of lntelli:~t'n(e t1n'lh'~ts 
assigned to eTC pro'.-ide Lln(d~;tiGl.l ~uF't.lurt tCi iJltcrrogZlticJr: (c:un::; in 
the field. Artal y'sts a re res pons il.~,le fur de\-clcpiJ\g req ui renlt::'n b for 
the queshonin of detainees as \'-:ell as condUCrn"l debrieiin s in 

Arlalvsts, hov/e\'er, do not 
participate in the application of Lnterrogation tedlJliques. 
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205. According to a number of those 
interviewed for this Review" the Agency's intelligence on AI-Qa'ida 
was limited prior to the initiation of the eTC Interrogation Program. 
The Agency lacked adequate linguists or subject matter experts and 
had very little hard knowledge of what particular AI-Qa'ida 
leaders-who later became detainees-knew. This lack of knowledge 
led analysts to speculate about what a detainee "should know/, vice 
information the t could demonstrate the detainee 
did know. 

a not respon to a ques to 
assumption at Headquarters was that the detahtee was holding back 
and knew more; consequently, Headquarters recommended 
resumption of EITs .. 
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evidenced in the final \\:aterbo':lrj se.s:..:icilt of A.bu ZubJ\-dah. 
According to c1 senior eTC offict'r. the interrogatiup tt~a-n1. 
-=onsidered ~J..bu ZuL~~Jydc1h t() L~'e \.-(J111FdiclIlt and v·,'cullej tc, 

terminate EIT 5. belie',,,-ed c~bu ZLl bcl",:dan continuell ttJ 



generated substantial pressure from Headquarters to·continue use of 
the BITs. According to this senior officer, the decision to resume uS,e 
of the w Abu Zub ah of 
the DO 

to assess Abu WILl.u:;~cJ'l:;;.u. 

final waterboard session, after·which, they reported back to 
Headquarters that the EITs were no longer needed on Abu I . 

Zubaydah. 

EfFECTIVENESS 

211. The detention of tert9rists has prevented 
them from engaging in further terrorist ac.tivity, and their 
interrogation has provided intelligence that has enabled the 
identification and apprehe!tsion of other terrorists, warned of 
terrorists pl~ts planned for the United States and around the world, 
and supported articles frequently used in the finished intelligence 
publications for senior policymakers.and war fighters. In this regard, 
there is no doubt that the Program has been effective. Measuring'the 
effectiveness of EITs, however, is a more subjective process and not 
without some concern. 

212. ~ When the Agency began capturing 
terrorists, ~anagement the success of the effort to be 
them off the streets 
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access nuu TInore 
significant, actionable information, the meas~re of success of the 
Program increasingly became the intelligence obtained from the 
detainees. 

213. ~ Quantitatively, the DO has significantly 
increased the number of counterterrorism intelligence reports with 
the inclusion of information from detainees in its custody. Betwe~n 
9/11 and the end of April 2003, the Agency prod~ced over 3,000 
intelligence reports from detainees. Most of the reports came from . 
.LLLI.''--..I...t..I. . .F, .... .I.L'-:'-' provided by the high value detainees at 

214. eTC frequently uses the. 
information from one detainee, as well as other sources, to vet the 
information of another detainee. Altho~gh lower-level detainees 
provide less information than the high value detainees, :information 
from these detainees has, on many occasions, supplied the . 
information needed to obe the value det$1ees further" 

the triangulation·C?f 
intelligence provides a fuller knowledge of Al-Qa'ida activities than 
would be possible from a single detainee. For example, Mustafa 
Ahmad Adam al-Hawsawi, the Al-Qa'ida financier who was 
captured with Khalid Shaykh ided Agency's 
firs t intelligence pertaining to 
participant in the 9/11 terrorist plot. 
information to obtain additional details abo 
Khalid Muhammad 

215. Detainee~ have provided 
information on Al-Qa lida and other terrorist gro~ 
.note includes: the modus operandi of Al-Qa'ida,_ 

....... .LJL '-'.L.,,"u ts who are capable of mounting attacks in the 
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216. ~ Det~ee inform,ation has assisted in the 
identification of terrorists. For example, information from Abu 
Zubaydah helped lead to the identification of Jose Padilla and 
Binyam Muhammed-operatives wh~ had plans to detonate a 
uranium-topped d~ty bomb in either Washington, p.C., or New. 
York City. Riduan "Hambalf' Isomuddin provided infon,pation·that 
led to the arrest of previously unknown members of an Al-Qa'ida cell 
in Karachi. They were designated as pilots for an aircraft attack . 
inside the United States. Many other detainees, including lower-level 
detainees such ~s Zubayr and Majid Khan, have provided leads to 
other terrorists, but probably the most prolific has been Khalid . 
Shaykh Muhammad. He provided informatiqn that helped lead to 
the arrests of terrorists includmg Sayfullah Paracha and his son Uzair 
Paracha, businessmen whom Khalid Shaykh Muhammad planned to 
use to smuggle explosives into the United State~; Saleh Almari, a 
sleeper operative in New York; and Majid Khan, an operative who 
could enter the United States and was tasked to research 
atta Khalid Shaykh Muhammad's 
information also led to the investigation and prosecution of 
Faris, the truck driver arrested in early 2003 in Ohio. 
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217. 

up several 
. gas stations to create panic and havoc; hijack and fly a"n airplane 

into the tallest building in California in a west coast version of the 
World Trade Center attack; cut the lines of suspension bridges in 
"New York in an effort to make them co 

This Review did not uncover any evidence that these 
were imminent. Agency senior managers believe that lives have been 
saved as a result of the capture and interrogation of terrorists who 

. were planning attacks, in particular Khalid Shaykh Muhammad, Abu 
Zubaydah, Hambali, and AI-Nashiri. 

218. judge the reporting from 
detainees as rces for finished 
intelligence. viewed 
analysts' knowledge of the terrorist target as having mmore 
depth as a result of information from detainees and estimated that 
detainee reporting is used in all counterterrorism articles duced 
for the most senior olie 
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said he believes the use of EITs has proven to be extremely valuable 
in obtaining enormous amounts of critical threat information from· 
detaine.es who had otherwise believed they were safe from any harm 

. in the hands of Americans. 

220. ~ Inasmucl:"t as EITs have been used only 
. since August 2002, and they have not.an been used with every high 
value detainee, there is lip:rited data on which to assess their 

. individual effectiveness. Tills Review identified concerns about the 
use of the waterboard, specifically whether the risks of its use were 
justified by the results, whether it has been unnecessarily used in 
some instances, and whether the fact that it is being applied in a 
manner different from its use in SERE training brings into question 
the continued applicability of the Do} opinion to its·use. Although 
the waterboard is the most intrusive of the-EITs, the fact that 
precautions have. been taken to provide on-site medical oversight in 
the use of all EITs is evidence that their use poses risks. 

221. Determining the effectiveness of each 
EIT is important in facilitating Agency management's decision as to 
which techniques should be used and for how long. Measuring the 
overall effectiveness of EITs is challenging for a number of reasons 
including: (1) the Agency caTInot determine wHIr any certainty the 
totality of the intelligence the detainee. actually posses~es; (2) each 
·detainee.has different fears of and tolerance for BITs; (3) the 
applica tion of the same EITs by different interrogators may have 
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ea s 
possessed perishable information about imminent threats against the 
United States. 

223. Prior to the us~ of EITs, Abu Zubaydah 
provided information . telligence reports. Interrogators 
applied the waterboard to Abu Zubaydah at least 83 times during. 
August 2002. During the period be~een the end of the use of the 
waterboard and 30 April 2003, he provided information for 
approximatel_additional reports. It is not possible to say 
definitively that the waterboard i.s the reason for Abu Zubaydah's 
increased proquction, or if another factor, such as the length of 
det~ntion, was the catalyst. Since the use of the waterboard 
however, Abu Zuba ah has ared to be cooperative 

With respect to Al-N~shiri_ 
reporte two waterboard sessions in November 2002, after 
psycholOgist/interrogators determined that AI-N~shiri 

_ .............. L .......... ·.. ........... However, after b . 

ashiri was thought to be withholding 
-Nashiri subsequently received additional EITs, 

b':1t not the watetboarcl. The Agency then 
AI-Nashiri to be t1compliant." Because of ~e litany of 
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teclmiques used by different interrogators'over a relatively short 
period of time, it is difficult to ideJ;ltify exactly why Al-Nashiri 
became more willing to provide information. However, following 
the use of EITs, he provi~ed information about his most current 
operational planning and as opposed to 
the historical information he provided before the use of EITs. 

225. On the other hand, Khalid Shaykh 
Muhammad, an accomplished resistor, provided only a·few 
intelligence reports prior to" the use of the waterboard, and analysis of 
that information revealed that much of it Was outdated, inaccurate, or 
incomplete. As a means. of less active resistance, at file beginning of 
their interrogation, detainees routinely provide information that they 
know is already known. Khalid Shaykh Muhammad received 183 

lica tions of the waterboard in March 2003 

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS AND CONCERNS REGARDING THE DETENTION 

A.Np INTERROGATION PROGRAM 

226. ~ The ~ITs used by the Agency under the 
eTC Program are inconsistent with the public policy positions· that the 
United States has taken regarding human' rights. This divergence has 
been a cause of concern to some Agency persormel involved with-the 
Program .. 
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Poli~y Considerations 

227. (U / I FOVO) Throughout its history, the Uni~ed States has 
been an international proponent of human rights and has voiced . 
opposition to torture and mistreabnent of prisoners by foreign 
countries .. This position is based upon fundamental principles that are 
deeply embedded in the American legal structure and jurisprudence. 
The Fifth and Fowteenth Amendments to the U.S. Cons.titution, for 
example, require due process of law, while the Eighth Amendment 
bars "cruel and unusual punislunents.1I 

228. (U / /FOUO) The President advised .the Senate when 
submitting the Torture Convention for ratification that the United 
States would construe the requirement of Article 16 of the Convention. 
to Ilundertake to prevent in any territory under its jurisdiction other 
acts of cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment or punishment which 
do not amount to torture" as "roughly equivalent toll. and Ifcoextensive 
wi~ the Constitutional guarantees agamst cruel, Unusual, and 
inhumane treatment."8t To this end, the United States submitted a 
reservation to the Torture Convention stating that the United States 
considers itself bOlll1d by Article 16 "only insofar as the term 'cruel, 
inhuman or degrading treatment or punishme.nt' means the cruel, 
unusual, and i.np.umane treatment or punishment prohibited by the 
5th, 8th and/or 14th Amendments to the Constitution of the United 
States. 1I 

Althoug~ the Torture Convention expressly provides that no 
exceptional circumstances whatsoeveri includmg war or any other 
public emergency, and no orde~ from ~ superior officer, justifies 
t9rture, no similar provision was included regarding acts of ncruel, 
inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment. 11 

81 (U / /FOUO) See Message from the President of the United States Transmitting the 
Convention Against Torture and Other Cruel/ Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, 
Sen. Treaty Doc. 100-20, tOOth Cong., 2d Sess./ at IS, May 23/1988; Senate Committee on Foreign 
Relations, Executive Report 101-30/ August 30,1990, at25/29/ quoting summary and analysis 
submitted by President Ronald Reagan, as revised by President George H.W. Bush. 
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229. (UI/FOUO) Annual U.S. State Department Country 
Reports on Human Rights Practices have. repeatedly condemned 
harsh·interrogation techniques utilized by foreign governments. For 
example, the 2002 Report, issued in·March 2003, stated: 

[The United States] have been given greater opportunity to make 
good on our co~tment to uphold standards of human dignity 
and liberty. . .. [N]o country is exempt from scrutiny, and all 
countries benefit from constant striving to identify their 
weaknesses and improve their performance . . .. [T]he Reports 
serve as a gauge for our international human rights efforts, 
pointing to areas of progress and drawing our attention to new and 
continuing challenges. 

In a world .marching toward 4emocracy and respect for human 
rights, the United States is a leader, a partner and a contributor. 
We have taken this· responsibility with a deep and abiding belief 
that human rights are universal. They are not grounded 
exclusively in American or western values. But their protection 
worldwide serves a core U.S. national interest. 

The State Department Report identified objectionable practices in a 
variety of countries including, for example; patterns qf abuse of 
prisoners in Saudi Arabia by such means as "suspension from bars by 
handcuffs, and threats against family members, ... [being] forced 
constantly to lie on hard floors [and] deprived of sleep .... ,. Other 
reports have criticized hooding and stripping prisoners naked. 

230. (U / /FO.UO) In June 2003, President Bush issued a 
statement in opservance of I1United Nations International Day in 
Support of Victims of Torture:u The statement said in part: 

The United States declares its strong solidarity with torture victims 
across the world. Torture anywhere is an affront to human dignity 
everywhere. We are committed to building a world where human 
rights are ~espected and protected by the rule of law. 



Freedom from torture is an inalienable human right . . .. Yet 
torture continues to be practiced around the world by rogue 
regimes whose cruel methods match their determination to crush 
the human spirit .... 

Notorious human rights abusers ... have sought to shield their 
abuses from the eyes of the world by staging elaborate deceptions 
and denying C:lccess to international human rights monitors .... 

The United States is cormnitted to the worldwide elimination of 
torture and we are leading this fight by example. I calIon all 
gove~nments to join with the United States an.d the community of 
law-abiding nations in prohibiting, investigating, and'prosecuting 
all acts o! torture and in undertaking to prevent other cruel and 
unusual punishment .... 

Concerns Over Participation in the ere Program 

, 231~ ~ During the course of this R~view, ~ number of 
Agency officers express~d Unsolicited concern about the possibility of, 
recrimination or legal action resulting from their participation in the 
eTC Program. A number of officers expressed concern that a human 

• • • • • . - . ue them for a·ctivities 
Additionally, they f ................. ,\,A.. 

would not stand behind them if this occurred. 

232. ~'One officer expressed con~ern th~t one day, 
Agen.cy officers will wind ~p on some '~wanted list". t~ ~p~r before 
the Court for war crImes steIIUIiJ.ng from.activIties. 

Another said, "Ten years from now we're going to be ·sorry 
we're doing this ... [but] it has to be done." He expressed concern 
that the eTC Program will be exposed in the news media and cited 
particular concern about the possibility of being named in a leak. 
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237. The number of detainees in CIA custody 
is relatively small by conlpc1rison \vit}, those in U.S. military custody. 
Nevertheless, the Agency, !i ke the I11ili tary I has an interest in the 
disposition of detainees ilnd po rhcula r interest in those vvho l if not 
kept in isolation, would likely di\"ulge information about the 
circumstances of their detention. 
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CONCLUSIONS 

250. The Agency's d~tention and 
interrogation of terrorists has provided intelligence that has enabled 
the identificati<?n an,d apprehension of other terrorists and warned of 
terrorist plots planned for the United States and around the world. 
The eTC Detention and Interrogation Program has resulted in the 
issuance of thousands of individual intelligence reports and analytic 
products supporting the counterterrorism efforts of U.S. 
policymakers and military commanders. The effectiveness of 
particular interrogation techniques in eliciting information that might 
not otherwise have been obtained cannot be so easily measured, 
however. 

251. After 11 September 2001, nUmerous 
Agency components individuals invested immense time and 
effort to implement the eTC"Program quickly, effectively, and within 
the law. The work of the Directorate of Operations, Counterterrorist 
Center '(eTC), Office of General CoUnsel (OGe), Office of Medical 
Services (OMS), Office of Technical Service ( 
_has been especially. notable. In effect, they began 

almost no fOlll1dation, as the Agency had discontinued virtually all 
involvement in interrogations after encountering difficult issues with 
earlier interrogation progr~s in Central America and the Near East. 
Inevitably, there also have been some problems with current " 
activities. 

, 25~. ~ OGC worked closely with Dol to determine the 
lega~ty of the measures that,carne to be known as enhanced 
interrogation techniques (EITs). 9GC also consulted with White 
House and National Security Council officials regarding the 
proposed"techniques. Those ~fforts and the resulting Do} legal 
opinion of 1 August 2002 are well documented. That legal opinion 
was based, in substantial part, on OTS analysis and the experience 
and expertise of non-Agency personnel and academics concerning 
whether long-term psychological effects would result from use of the' 
proposed techniques. 
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253. ~ The DoJ legal opinion upon which the Agency 
relies is based upon technical definitions of tlsevere" treatment and 
the "intent" of the interrogators, and consists of finely detailed 
analysis to buttress the conclusion that Agency officers properly 
carrying out EITs would not violate the Torture Convention's 
prohibition of torture, nor would they be subject to criminal 
prosecution under the u.s. torture statute. The opinion does not 
address the separate question of whether the application of standard 
or enhanced techniques by Agency officers is consistent with the 
undertaking, accepted conditionally by the United States regarcling 
Article 16 of the Torture Convention, to prevent "cruel, inhuman or 
degrading treabnent or punishmen~." 

254. ~ Periodic efforts by the Agency to elicit 
reaffirmatio:n of Administration policy and DoJ legal backing for the 

. . Agency's use of EITs-as they have actually been employed-have 
been well advised and successfuL However, in this process, Agency 
officials have neither sought nor been provided a written statement 
of policy or a formal "signed update of the DoJ legal opini~n, 
including such important determinations as the meaning and 
applicability of Article 16 of the Torture Convention. In July 2003, the 
DCI and the General Counsel briefed senior Administration officials 
on the Agency's expanded use of EITs. At that time, the Attorney 
General affirmed that the Agency's conduct remained w"ell within the 
scope of the 1 August 2002 DoJ legal opinion. 

255. ~ A number of Agency officers of various 
grade levels who are involved with detention and interrogation 
activities are concerned that they may at some future date be 
vulnerable .to legal action in the United States or abroad and that the 
U.S. Government will not stc:md behind them. Although the current 
detention and interrogation Program has been subject to DoJ legal 
review and Administration political approval, it diverges sharply 
from previous Agency policy and practice, rules that govern 
interrogations by U.S. military and law enforcement officers, 
statements of U.S. policy by the Departme~t of State, and public 
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statements by very senior U.S. officials, including the President, as 
well as the policies expressed by Members of Congress, other 
Western governments, international organizations, and human rights 
groups. In addition, some Agency officers are aware of interrogation 
activities that were outside or beyond the scope of the written DoJ 
opinion. Officers are concerned that future public revelation of the 
eTC Program is inevitable and will seriously damage Agency 
officers' personal reputations, as well as the reputation and 
effectiveness of the Agency itself. 

256. The Agency has generally provided­
support to its officers who have been detainin 

In particular, eTC did a cornri:t.en'-4'-1.''''-.L'''' 
interrogations of high value detainees at 
At these foreign locations, Agency personnel-with one notable 
exception described in this Review-followed guidance and 
procedures and documented their activities well. . 

257. ~ By distinction, the Agency-especially 
in the-early months of the Program-failed to provide adequate 
staffing, guidance, and support 
and mterro tion of detainees in 

258. Unauthorized, improvised, inhumane, 
and undocumented detention. and interro tion 
used 

• .'!t rosecu 
incident will be the 
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- subject of a s 
General. 

tmau te were us m an 
individual who died at Asad-abad Base while under interrogation by 
an Agency contractor in June- 2003. officers did not normally 
conduct interrogations at that location the Agency 
officers involved lacked timely and adequa an~e, training, 
experience, supervision,' or authorization, and did not exercise sound 
judgment. 

259. ~ The Agency failed to issue in a timely 
-manner comprehensive written guidelines for detention and 
interrogation activities. -Although ad hoc guidance was provided to 
many -officers through cables a~d briefings in the early months of 
detention and interrogation activities, the DCI Confinement anq 
Interrogation Guidelines were not-issued until January 2003, several 
months after initiation "Of interrogation ac·· and after of the 

thorized ctivities had 

, 260. ~ Such written ~idance as does exist to 
address detentions and interroga~ons undertaken by Agency officers 

inadequate. The 
Directorate of Operations Handbook contains a . h that 
is intended to uide officers 

this dated guidance nor gener 
Agency guidelines on routine intelligence collection is adequate to 
instruct and protect A officers involved in c 
interro ation activities 

261. ~ During the _interrogations of two 
detainee~, the waterboard ~as used in a manner inconsistent with the 
written DoJ legal opinion of 1 August 2002. DoJ had stipulated that 
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itS advice was basec;i upon certain facts that the Agency had 
submitted to DoJ, observing, for example, that II ••• you (the Agency) 
have also orally infor:med us that although son:te of these techniques 
may be used with more than once [sic], that repetition will not be 
substantial because the techniques generally lose their effectiveness 
after several repetitionS.l~ One key 'ida terrorist was 
to the waterboard at least 183 times 

d was denied sleep for a period of 180 hours . 
. In this and another instance, the technique of application and volume 

of water used differed from the DoJ opinion. . 

262. ,..,.,...., ............. ehensive medical 
where EITs were 

did not issue formal medical guidelines 
" Per the advice of eTC/Legal, the OMS Guidelines 

were thert issued as I1draftll and remain so even after being re-issued 
in September 2003. 

264. Agency officers report that reliance on 
analytical assessments that were unsupported by credible intelligence 
may have resulted in the application of EITs without justification. . 
Some participants in the Program, particularly field interrogators, 
judge that ere assessments to the effect that detainees are 
withholding information are not always supported by an objective 
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evaluation of available information and the evaluation of the 
interrogators but are too heavily based, instead, on presumptions of 
what the individual might or should know. 

266. ~ The Agency faces potentially serious 
long-term political and legal ~hal1enges as a result of the C~C 
Dete~tion·andInterrogationProgram, particularly its use ofEITs and 
the inability of the U.S. Government to decide what it will ultimately 
do with terrorists detaine~ by the Agency. 
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PROCEDURES'AND RESOURCES 

1. .A team, led by the Deputy Inspector 
General, and comprising the Assistant Inspector General for 
Investigations, the Counsel to the Inspector Generat a senior 
Investigations 'Staff Manager, three Investigators, two Inspectors, an 
Auditor, a Res~arch Assistant, and a Secretary participated in this 
·Review. 

2. OIG.tasked relevant components for all 
information regarding the treatment and mterrogation of all 
individuals detained by or on behalf of CIA after 9/11. Agency 
components provided O~G with over 3~,OOO page~ of d·ocuments. 
OIG conducted over 100 interviews with individuals who possessed 
potentially relevant information. We mterviewed senior Agency 
management officials, including the DeI,.the Deputy Director of 
Central Intel.1igence, the Executive Director, the General Counsel, and 
the Deputy Director for Operations.· As new information developed, 
OIG re-interviewed several individuals. 

OIG personnel made site visits to the 
terrogation facilities. Ole personnel also 
to review 92 videotapes of interrogations 
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T O~ ~t.Jeparbnent of Justice 

Office of Legal CO\ll1Sel 

effiu of the A3siSbOl AUom.cy Gencnl 

August 1~ 1002 

MemorandlUU for J aho Rizzo 
Acting General Counsel of the Central Intelligence Agency 

lUferrqgalion of iii Qaada Operative 

You have asked for this Office's views o~ whethe:r cer'~ proposed conduct would 
violate the prohibition against torture found· at Section 2340A of title 18 of the United States 
Code. You have asked. for this advice in the coutS!! of conducting interrogations of Abu· 
Zubaydah. As we understand it, Zubaydah is one of the highest ranking members of the ~l Qaeda 
terrorist organ.i7..ation, with which the United States is currently engaged in an international armed. 
eonflict following the attacks on the \Vorld Trade Center and the Pentagon on September II, 
2001. This letter memorialiZes our previous oral advice, .given on July 24, 2002 and July 26, 
2002: that the proposed conduct \·vouId not violate this prohibition. 

L 

Our advice is bas~ Up(J~ the f¢l~wi.ngfa¢ts·, whish you haveprovided . .to us~ W'e also 
understand that yau do not have any facts in yeut possession contrary to the mcts oUtliqed.. here, 
and this opinion is limited to these facts. If these facts were to change .. this advice- would not 
necessarily apply. Zubaydah is currently being held by the United States. The interrogation tea.rn 
is certain that he has additional infonna1ion .that he refuses to divulge. Specifieally, he is 
withholding infonnation regarding terrorist networks in the United States or in Saudi Arabia and 
inf.onnation regarding plans to conduct attacks within the United States or agaiJ18t our interests 
overseas. Zu:baydah has become accustomed to a certain level of.treatment and displays.IJ.O signs 
of'-vitlingness to di~close further inforinatio:Ii. ·Moreover, your intelligence iO.dieates that tQ~ is 
currently a level of "chattern equal to that which preceded the September I 1 ,attacks. 1n light of 
the info.rm.ation you believe Zuh.aydah has.and the high level of threat you -believe now exists. 
you.\-vish to move the mterrogations into what you have·described.as·an ("incr.eased pressure 
pbase.1) . 

As part of this increased pressure phase, Zubaydah will have contact only with a new 
interrogation specialis~ whoil he has not met previously, and the SurvivaI1 Evasion, Resistance, 
Escape C'SERE") training psychologist who has been involved wilb the interrogations since they 
began. TIus phase will likely last no more than several days but could last up to thirty days. In 
this phase, you would like to employ ten techniques that you believe will dislocate his 
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expectations regarding the treatment he believes he will receive and encouraRe him to dis~lose 
the crudal information mentioned above. These ten techniques are: (1) attention grasp, (2) 
waliing~ (3) facial hold, (4) facial slap (insult slap). (5) cramped confinement,- (6) wall standing, 
(7) stress positions. (8) sleep deprivation, (9) insects placed itl a confinement box, and (10) the 
waterboard. You have informed us that the use ofthese techniques would be on an as-needed 
-basis and that not all of these techniques will necessarily be used. '[1'le interrogation team would 
use these techniques in SOIne combination to convince Zubaydah thal ~e only way.he can 
influence his surrounding. environment is through.cooperation. You haVt; however. j informed us 
that you expect these techniques to be used in some sort of escalating fashiQn~ culmina~g ,:vith 
the waterboard, though hOt necessarily ending with~ ilijs technique. MO"reQvet', you-:have'alSQ 
orally infonned us that although some_ of these techniques may be used v.1th more than once, that 
repeti ti on wi II not· be substantial because the techniqu.es generally lose their effectlv~ness aftet 
several repetitions. You have alSQ·infO£"1ll.ed us tllat Zabaydah sustained a woui1d ·durittg his 
capture, which is being treated. 

Based on the f-acts you have given us, we u:p.derstand. each of these techniques to be as 
fQllows. The attention grasp consists of gr;asping the individual with. both hands. one hand on 
each side -of the. coUar opening, in·a cOntroUed and. q~ck motion. In the same .mptio~ as the 
graSp; the ihdividual is·dra~n towar(i ~e·intertog.ator. 

For walling, a flexible false wail will be consttueted. The individual i·s· placed Witll his 
heels lWcrun-g1ne'wttll: ·The tnterttrgator pulls . the ·individual fotward··and:then ~ui:clcly ;and· 
r ll1ll1 y pushes the ind i vid ual into the wall. It is the individual's shoulder blades that hit the walL 
During this motion, the head and neck are supported with a rolled hood or towel that provides a 
c-collar effect to help prevent wbiplash. To further reduce the probability of injury, the 
individual is allowed to rebound from the flexible wall. You have oraJIy infonn.ed us that the 
false wall is in part constructed to create a loud sound when the individu.al hits it, whlch \vHl 
further shock or surprise in the individual. In part, the idea is 10 crea,te a·sound that wilbniake the 
impact seem far worse than it is and that will be far worqe than any injury· that Dli~t result from 
the action. 

The facial hold is used to hold: the. head immobile. One apen ~fu.l is·.p]~ed. Ott,eitMr 
side of .the individual1 s· face. The fmgertips are "kept well away from the indivi~uaVs eyes. 

,\Vith the facial slap or insult slap] the interrngatorslaps the individual's face v.-':ith fingers 
slightly spread. The band makes contact with the area directly between the tip of the individuars 
chin and th~ bottom of the corresponding earlobe. The interrogator i~vades the individual's 
personal space. The goal of the facial slap is not to inflict physical pain that is severe or lasting. 
lnstead= the purpose of the facial slap is to induce shoc~ surprise, and/or humiliati'dn, 

Cramped confinement IDv()lves the placement of the individual in a confined space, the 
dimenshms of which restrict the indiVidual) s movement. The confine.d sPac~ is usuany dark. 

TO~T . 2 
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The duration of confinement varies baSed upQn th·e size·ofthe oontainer. For the farger.oonftned 
·space, the. i·ndividual can stand up or sit down~ the smaller space.is farge enough. for lltesubjed to· 
sit dowI).. Confmement in the larger space can last·Up_ ~ e!a~tee~ hours~ for th~ ilm:aller spaceJ 

confinement lasts for no more than two hours~ 

\VaU standing is used to induce muscle fatigue. The individual stands about four to .five 
feet from a wall, with his feet spread approximately to shoulder v.1dth. His anus are stretc{led 
out in front of him, with his fingers resting on'the waIl. His fmgers support aU Qfhis body 
weight. The individual is not pennitted to· move or reposition his 1iands ar f'tet. 

A. variety of streSs positions. may be used. You have informed us that lhese positfons .are 
not designed to produce the pain associated with contortions or twisting ofthe·bGdy. Rather, 
somewha1.like walling: they are designed to produce the physical discOmfort associated with 
muscle fatigue. Two particular stress positions are likely to be used on Zubaydah: (l)"sitting on 
the floor With legs eXtended straight out in front ofhlm with his armS raised above his bead; and 
. (2) kneeling on the floor 'While leaning hack at a 45 degree angle. You have also orally informed 
us that through observing Zubaydah in captivity, you have noted that he appears to be quite 
flexible despite bis wound. 

Sleep deprivatj.on may he used. You. have·indicated that your purpose in using this 
technique is to reduce the individu.al~s ability to thitik an .his·feet and.. through the discgmrort 
assQ"tiate;d with iack. ·of -steep;" to-motivate-bim'1o-ooop~te: !fhe-efreef-of"""Sliclt-sleep":deprivatiou· . .. .., . 
. \vill generally renrlt after one or two nights'ofunintellllpted steep. You h.ave-.infQtin~ U.s that 
your re~earch has revealed tha~ in rare instances, sollie individtutls whQ are-alr~nyt1tedisp6sed 
to psychologiCal prob(e~s may experience abnortnal reactioD,S to sleep d~privatio~. Even iil. 
those cases, however, rea,ctions abate after the·iI.1f,lividual is pennitted to·sl.e~p. Mo}"(}Over: 
personnel with. medical tra.inin,g .. are available to and wIlt interv~ne in the·uJilikely event of an 
abnorma,1 reactioIi.. You ,hav~ Qrally infOlil1ed us ~~ you would not d¢.prive. Zuha..y.dah. of sleep 
for more than eleven days·at a time and that you b.ave previ0uslv kent. him aWake for 72 hours, 
trom· which no meutal or physical h~ resUlted: 

You would like to place Zubaydah in a cramped confinement box with. an inse~t You 
have infOIDled us that he appears to have a fear of insects. In particular., you wo\,\ld like to tell 
Zubaydah tli.at you intend to place a stinging insect into the box \\~.th him. You would, however, 
place a hannless insect in the box. You have orally . uld . 

finally, you would 4ke to use a tethniffile ealled the "watetboatd.11 In this pmcedure,.thc 
individual. is boun,d secureJy to an uictin~ bench, which is approximntoly four feet by,seven feet. 
The in.dividual's feet are generally elevated. A cloth is placed over the forehead and ~y~. \Vater 
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is then applied to the doth in a controlled manner. As this is done, the cloth is lowered until il 
covers· both the nose and mouth. Once the cloth is saturated and completely covers the mouth 
and nose, air flow is slightly restri,cted for 20 to 40 seconds due to the presence of the cloth. This 
causes an increase iu carbon dioxide· level in the individual's. blood. This increase in the carbon 
dioxide level stimulates'increased effort to br¢atbe. This" effort plus the cloth piodti~ me 
perception oC'suffocation and incipient panic"l, i.e~~.the perception 'of dtowrJ1)g. l)e-lndividual 
does not breathe any water into his 1uuM. Durili.g l1iose 20 to 40 se90nds, water is coittirit)o.usly 
applied from a hei ght of twel ve to tv.,renty-"fo·ut inthe$t After this'·periDd. the doth IS Hfte4, and 
the individual is allowed, to breathe unimpeded for three Qr foutfun breaths. '¥he se!1sation.-of 
drowning is immediately "rdie~ed "by the removal of die cloth .. The" proeedure maY'1heit" be' , 
repeated. The water is usually applied from a canteen cup or small \vatering can With a spout-. 
You have orally informed us that this procedure triggers an automatic physiological sensation of 
drowning that the individual cannot control even though he may be aware that he i$ in fact not 
drowning. You have also orally informed us that h is likely that this -procedure would not last 
1110re than 20 minutes in anyone application. 

We also understand that a medical expert with SERE expetience will be present 
througnout this phase and that me procedUres will be stopped if deemed medically" necessary to 
prevent severe mental or physica1 hann to Zubaydah. As"mentioned above: Zubaydah suffered 
an injury during his capture. Yo·u have inform&l us £hat steps win be taken to enstue that this 
injur)f is not in any way exacerbated by Ule use of these m~thods and that adequate medical 
attention \-vill' be given to eosure that it will ·heal properly., 

II. 

In this part, we teview'tbe context v.rithi'ri which these proceaures will be applied. You 
have informed us that you have taken various steps to ascertain what effeCt, if any, these 
techniques would have on Zubaydah's mental health. These same techniques, with the'exception 
of the insect in the cramped confined space, have been USed and continue to be used on some 
rnembe~ of our milit&: personnel during their SERE training. Because. of the uSe of these 
procedures in training Our O\\:n military personnel to resist interrogations) yQIJ have consulted 
with various indivi duals who ,have ex.'1:ensive 'experience in the use "of these 'techniques. You have 
dQne so in order to ensure that no prolonged mental harm would result from the use ofthf~se 
proposed procedures. 

Through your consultation with various individuals responsible for such ttainin& you 
have learned thal these ~chniques have conduct without any 

th~ SERE :lebool, 
during the seven· 

year period he spent tn requests from Congress for 
information concerning alleged injuries resulting from the training. One of these inquiries was 
prompted by the temporary physical injury a trainee sustained as result of being placed in a 
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COlmnelllertt box.. The other inquiry" involved claims that the SERE training caused two 
individuals to engage in criminal behavior, natnely, fei\lny shoplifting and dowIljOaglii1& thild 
porno£!api\~ onto a niilitary.co~r)Uter. Acco~dihg to this·official, theSe claims ,,:er~_·~· .:. 
~oret)ver, he has Illdlcated that dunng the three and a half years. he ·spent 
~f the SERE program~ he trained I 0,000 ~tudents. Of those students, ·OliLy two 
dropped out of.the training following tbe use of these techniques. Although on tare.occasions 
·some students temporari.ly postponed the remainder of their training and received psychological 
counseling, those studen~s were able to finish the program without any indicalion of subsequent 
memal health effects. 

ten'years, is aware, none tlte·progtatn,-suffe.red any 
adverse mental health .effects. He irifotJi\ed· yo.u :that there was -one.per$o~ wbQ did tiQt c.6mplete 
th.e. training. That pe.rsoll expenence.d· an adverse mental health fea.ctkm that lasted. onl y two 
hours .. After those two hours, the indivi dual 1 s symp"toms spontaneously. dissip.ated without 
requiring treatment Qr counseling and no other symptoms were ever reported by tIus individuaL 
Accordulg to the information you have provided to us, this assessment of the use of these 
procedures includes the Use of the \.vaterboard. 

use a course of conduct, 
of the insect in the confmement box and the waterboard. This memorandum confirms that the 
use of these procedures has no! resulted in any reported: instances of prolonged mental hsnli. and 

"II 1.: ces of immediate and temporary adverse psychological responses to the tra.i(1jllg. 
eported that a Small minority of students have had temporary adverse 

psychologiciil reactions during training. Of the 26,829 studen1s trained from 1992 through 2001 
in the Air Force SERE training, 4.3 percent of those students na4 contact with psYchology 
servi ce s. Of those 4.3 perCent, a til y 3.2 percent wete~p~ll ec;l from $.e ,PIo"gram·.for psycho lo gi cal 
reasons. Thus, out of tlle students trained'overal4 oliIy 0.14-,. 6i ... ,w~:: utlea :frG.1IL :the 
progf.am for psycho·logical reasons. Furthermore! ·A1th'oug!\ ~ )i~cated that surveys 
of students having completed tliis:~ng are bot done, be:expJ;esse:ii cOn id.ence that-the fraining 
did not cause·ally·long-tenn psyChological impact. He based:rus conclusion on the debrieung of 
students that is done after the training.. l\.{ore importantiy~ he based this assessment on the fact 
that although training is required to be extremely stressful in order to be effettive, very few 
complaints have been made regarding the training. During rug tenure, in which l{),OOO students 
were trained, no congressional complaints liave been mad~. Vlhilt there ~oas· one Inspector 
General complaint, it was not due to psychological CO"IlCems. Moreover~ he was av..'8l'~ of only 
one letter inquiring about the long':tenn impact of these techniques from au individual trained 

TO~RET . 5 



( 

( -

TO~T 
o:,er l:v~oty ~ouud that it "' ... a: impossible to attribute this indlvid~al)s symptoms lo 
hiS lrrurung. ~ncluded that if there are any long-term psychologlcal effects of £he 
United States Air Force trailung using the procedures outlined above theY"·are certainly, 
minimal." 

With. respect tq th_e waterboatci. you 4ave also oraBy infonned tis-that the Na''Y ~OiltirU.re!5 
to use it in tI:Ainil:lg. You have:infonned us that your on-site psychologists~ ~ho have extensive 
experience with the use -of the v..raterboard in Navy ~aining, have not eIicOurit~ any Stgnifica'l~t 
long-telTh inental health consequences fl.·om its use~ Your on-site,psycll'o!oglsts have alS.o 
indicated-that JPRA has likewise not reported'anY'significant long~term mental heaHh 
consequences from the lJSe of the \l(aterboard. Yo.u' have informed us tbatQther'SerYlces ·ce8S.ed 
use of'the waterboard because it was so successful as an interrogation technique, but not because 
of any concerns over any harm, physical or men.ta~.caused by it. It was als 
nlmos.t 100 percent effective in producing cooperation among the trainees. loo 
indicated that he had observed the' use of the '\l.ra1etooard in Navy trainfug,s -e 
times. Each time ii resulted in cooperation but it did not result in any ph.ysic·at harm'to the 
student. 

You have also reviewed the relevant literature and found no empiriCal data on the effect 
of these techniques, with the ex.ception-of sleep deprivation. \Vith respect' to sleep deprivation: 
you have infonned us that is not uncommon for someone to be deprived of sleep for 72 hours and 
still petfonn excellently ~n visual-spatial met-or -tasks and sbort-tenn.memory tests. Al~hough 
some individuals may experience hallucinations, (lccordingto the literature you s~yed, those 
who ~xperience such psychotic symptoms hay/} almost alwaY$'had such episodes prior to the 
sleep deprlvation. You have indicated the studies of lengthy sleep depri,\'auDu shOw~d no 
psychosis, loosening of thoughts, flattening oferii.QUopS, delusions-j or paraJiold id~~. In ot'le 
case,. even after eleven daY$ of d~'P.riv~tio'n.. .no 'psy'cl.wsis or-pennaqent brain ~aged. occ~ed. 
In fact the indtvrdual reported feeling almosf: back' to- rtormal~fter ope night ~ s sleep. F~ert 
based on the ex:petiences willi its use in military training (where it is induced -for Up tOe 48 hours), 
you fO~l;id that ta:rely~ if ever, vlili the individual suffer hann after the sleep deprivation -is 
discontinued. Instead, the effects remit after a few good nights of sleep. 

You have taken the additional step of consulting with U.S. interrogations experts, and 
other individuals with oversight over the SERE-training process. None of these 'individuals was 
aware of a..'ly prolon'ged psycholQgical effect caused by the use of any of the above techniques 
either separately or as a course of conduct. Mereo\'er: you.consulted . .-wi th' outside psycbologi SIS 

who reported that they were una\vare of any cases where long-term problems have occli..rred ~ a 
result of these lechniques. 

Moreover, in consulting \v;th a numher of mental health experts, you have learned that 
the effect of any oftbese procedures will be dependant on the individual's personal history, 
cultural history and psychologi\.aI11'.ndet1de.~. To that end, )10\1 have infonned us that you have 
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completed a psychological assessment of Zubadyah. This assessment is based on interviews wiLt, 
Zubaydah.. observations of him. and infonnatioll collected from other ·sources such as intellig~nce 
and press reports. Our understanding of Zubaydah's psychological profile; which we set forth 
below, js based on that assessment. 

According to this assessment. Zubaydah~ though .only 31} rose q:uickjy from ver;y to·w 
level mujahedin to third or fourth man in al Qaeda. He: hag served as Usama BiD, La,denrs seflior 
lieutenant. In that capacity: he ba9 managed a network .or training camps .. He has been 
instrumentar in the training of operatives· for al Qaedn, the Egyptian. Islarnic Jihad, artd ·other 
terrorist elements. inside Pakistan a.'1d Afghanistan. He ac'ted as the D~puty Camp CQl1Ullander 
for a1 Qaeda training camp in .hJghanistan~ personally approving entry and graduation ~f all 
trainees during 1999-2000. From 1996 until 1999, he approved .all in.dividi.l.al$· going in and out 
of Afghanistan to the training C&-nps. Purther, no one went in and out. of Peshawar, Pakistan 
without his l<nowledge·and approval.. He also acted as at Qaeda's co.ordinator. of external 
contacts ~nd foreign communications. Additionally, lie has acted as: al Qaeda's COunter­
intelligence ofiicer and has been trusted ta firld spies within the organization. 

Zu1;laydah has been involved· in eve!)' maj or tertons t. operatiort carried out by ai Qaeda. 
H.e was a planner for the MiHemrimn platto attack U.S. and Israeli targets during1be l\1ill~nniurn 
ceJebrati0ns in Jordan. Two of the central figores in this plot who \\'ere a.ttested have jden:tifi~d 
Zubaydah as the supporter of their cell and the plot. He aLso served as a planner for the .Paris 
Embassy plot in 2001. Ivfor.eO\ler; be was one oCthe planners of the September 11 attacksl PriQT 
to his capture, he was engaged in plan.rUng future tel10rist attacks against U.S. interests. 

Your psychological assessment inclicates. that it is believed Zubaydah wrote al Qaeda~s 
. manual on resistance techniques. You also believe that his experiences in al Qaeda make him 
well -~cquainted with, and ·v.'ell-versed in such' techniq1.J.es. As part ofhis .role in al Qacda, . 
Zubaydah . vis ited individuals·in prison and help~d them l.Jpon their rel@se:. l1uough tlUs ,co.nt-act 
and a~vities. w1th other at Qaeda m,ujahedml you beli~ve that he knows num,y stories ofcaptur~ 
interr.ogation, and r~istance to such interrogation: Additioruilty: ·be has spok:en With Aym.art al­
Za walli.ri I and you bel i ~ve it is likely. iliat the· t\\'O discussed Zawahiri ~ s experiences as. a. pri~ilet 
of the Russians a,nd the Egyptians. 

Zuba),dah stated during interviews that he thinks of any activiryoutside of jihad as 
'~silly.H He haS indicated that Ws heart and mind are devoted to serving Allah. and lslaro. throu.gh 
jihad and he has stated that. he has no doubts or regrets about committing hlmselfto jihad. 
Zubaydah believes that the global victory o(IslflID II) inevil.ahle. You h·ave informed us that he 
continues to express his unabated desire to kill AmeriCans and Jt·ws. 

Your psychological assesstllent describes his ·personality as foHuws, He is ~a highly self~ 
directed individual who prizes his independence.') He has (~narcissistic features," whiCh are 
evidenced in the attention he pays to his personal appearance and his (~obvious 'effortS' to 
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del'nonstrate that he is really a. rather .'humble" and ~gular guy."n: He is "som"eWfuit.eompulsiven 

in how he organizes his environment and business. He is confident, self-assured, arid possesses 
an air of authority. "\Illite he admits to at 11mes WreStling with how to determine who is an 
"innocent," he has acknowledged celebrating dle destruction of the \Vorld Trade Center. He is 
inteLLigent and intellectually curious. He displays "excellent self--discipline.~\ The assessment 
describes him as a perf(!Ctionist

T 
persistent: private~ and highly capable in his ~ocial interactions. 

He is very guarded about ope..tting up to others and your assessment repeatedly cmphasize$ that 
he lend~ not to trust others easily. He is also uquick to recognize and assess the moods and 
motivations of others.1: PutihernlOl"er he is pio"ud of his ~bili.ty to lie and deceive-others 
successfully. Throu,gh. his deception he hasi among other things. prevented the location of al 
Qaeda. safehouses and" evel,1 acquired" a United Nali-ons re~e"e ideiit(fita\ion card. 

_ Accordiflg to your reports, Zubaydhh doeS; not have " any "pre..existiI,ig" mental GQligitiqtis or 
problems" that would make him likely to-sUffer prolonged JJle.!:I~\ harm frotn your"proposed 
imerrogation methods. Through reading his diaries and interviewing him, you have found no 
history of "mood disturbance or other psychialric pathologyLr "thoughl disortler[))" ... enduring 
mood or mental health problems.:' He is in fact !;rei1;larkably resilien.t and confident. thai he can 
QVerCOUle adversity.ll When he encounters slress or low mood, this appears to last ouly for a 
short time. He deals with stress by assessing its source: evaluating the coping resources available 
to him, and then taking action. Your assessment notes that he is "generally s"elf4 suffiCient and 
relies On bis ullders~nding and application of leligious and psychological principles, mtelligence 
and "disoipline -to avoid and overooIDe"pr-oble"m5.u

" Mereover, you have--fotmd-that he has a 
Hreliable and durable support system" In his (aj~hj "the blessings ofretiglous leaders~ and 
camaraderie oflike-minded mujahedin brothers." During detentIon j iubayda.h has ma;rage.d his 
mood.! remaining at most points ucircumspe~t,. calm, controlled:" and. deliberate.'l He has 
maintamed this demeanor during aggressive interrogations and reductions irt sleep. You describe 
that in an initial confrontational incident, Zubaydah showed signs of sympathetic nervous system 
arousal. which you think was possibly fear. Although this incident led him to disclose 
intelligence infomlation, he was able to quickly regalf"J his composure) his air of Cdnfidence: and 
his ('strong resolveu not to reveal any infolU18.tion. 

Overall, you swnmarize h.is primary strengths as the following: ability to focus, goal­
clir~ctti1 Jisc:ipllue) uttelUgenco; emotional rt:silh~tle:C, sheet SQvvy~ ability to orgql1.ize and 
manage people, keen observation skills, fiuidaciaptability (can an"ncipate and adapt under duress 
lind with minimal tesources)~ capacity to "ass~ss and exploit the needs of others, and" ability to 
adjust goals to emerging opportunities. 

You anticipate that he will draw upon his vast knowledge of interrogation techniques to 
" cape with the interrogation.. Your assessment indicates th;it Zubaydah may be willing to die to 

protect the most important information that he holds. Nonetheless~ you are of the view that his 
belief that Islam will ultimate1y dominate the world and that this victory is inevitable"may 
provide the chance that. Zubaydah will e1v~ lnftnmation and rationalize it s~lely as "a" temporary 
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setback. Additionally, you btlieve he may be willing to disclose some information., pa.t1.icularly 
infomjalion he deems to not be critical, but which may ultimately be useful to us when pieced 
together with other intelligence infonnat-ion you have gained. 

m . 

. Section 2340A makes it a crjmJnal: offe:ns~ fur a-qy,person nourside of.the Uillt~:StateS 
[10] cqtl1.rtli to qr attempt[) to COllumt tortule.U Section 2340( 1) defIn.es torrore as: 

all actcommhted by a person acting under the color of law speciiioally t.ntended to 
iJ.u1ict severe physical or mental pain or suff¢I'lng (other than paill or suffering 
incidentallri Lawful sanctions) upon another perSon. within his custody of physical 
coouol. 

IS. U.S.C. § 2340(1). As we outlined in our opinion on standards of conduct under $ect.ion 
2340A: a violation of2340A requires ·ashow!fig that: (1) the torture oC0~ed o~tside·the United 
S I ares; (2) t1 te ·defend.ant acted under the col-or of law ~ (3) the vi cum. was within th e defendal1C s 
custody or control; (4) the defendant specifically intended to inflict s~vere pai'!l or suffering~ and 
(5) that the acted inflicted severe pain or suffering. See Mernorandum f9r John Rizzo, Acting 
General Counsel for the Central Intelligence Agency, from Jay S. Bybee., Assistant Attorney 
General, Office of Legal Counsel) Re: Standards of Conduct fol' Interrogation under 18 U.S. C. 
§§ 2340~234fJA at 3 (August I! 2002) ("Section 2340A Memorandum"). Yau have asked us to 
assume that Zubayadah is being held outside the United Stales, Zuba.yadah is within U.S. 
custody. and the interrogators are acting under the color of law. At issue is whether the last two 
elementS would be met by the use of the proposed procedutes t namely, whether those using these 
procedures would have the requisite·mental state and. whether these· proced!JIes \\1mld inflict . 
severe pain or suffering within the meartirig of the sta!~te. 

Severe Pain .or S utte.rine:. In 0rder fbr paul· or suffering io rise to the level:of torture, the 
statute requires that ~t be severe. As w.e have· previQusly explain~) this reaches onlyextrelne 
acts. S¢e ia. at 13. Nonetheless, drawing upon . cases under the TorlureVictim l~rotecti()n i\c;t 
(TVPA), which has a definition ofto~e that is·sinillar to Sectiofi 2Sc40's definition·, we (o\Jnd 
thal a single event of sufficiently intense pain may·fall within this prohibition. See id. at 26. As 
a result, We have analyzed each of these ieclmiques separately. In further drawhlg upon those 
cases~ we also have found that c.ourts tend to take a totality-of-the-circumstances approach and 
consider au entire course of conduct to deterrpine whether torrure has occurred~ See id at 27. 
TIlerefore, in addition to considering each technique separately~ we consider them fogether as a 
course of conduct. 

Section 1340 defines torture as the infliction of severe physical or ment~l pain or 
. suffering. We will consider physical pain and·mental pain separately." See 18 U.S.C. § 2340(1). 

With respect to physical pain, '\'e previously concluded that Hsevere pain" \\rithin th.e meaning of 
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Section 2340 is pain lhar is difficuit for me individual to endure and is of an intensity aki n to ihe 
pain accompanying serious physical injury. Se,e Section 1340A MemoI_andulil at 6. Drawing 
upon the, TV? A precedel1~ we have hoted that examples of acts inflicting severe ,pain that typify 
tOlture are) among other things, severe beatings with weapons such as clubs: ana,the bunling of 
prisoners. See ;d. at 24. \l/e conclude below that none of the proposed tetlmiques inflicts such 
pain. 

The facial hold aLld the attention grasp involve no physical pain. In [he absence of such 
pain it is obvious that they ca:n.n.ot be- said, to inflict seve-re physical pain or suffering. The stIess 
positions and wall standing both may result in muscle fatigue. Each involves the sustail1td 
holding of a position. In wall standin.g, It will be holding, a position ill "Nhich aU of the- . 
individuaI~s body ,veight is placed on his finger tips. The sttess positions WiU Likelyin~lud~ 
'sitting on the floor with legs extended straight out in front and arms raised above the head~ and 
kneeling on the floor and leaning back at-a 45 degree angle. Anypain associated \vith ntuseie 
iatigue is not of the intensity sufficient to amoUnt to "severe. physical pain or sQff¢n.ng~) un,der the 
statute, nor, despite its discamfert, can it be said to be difficult to,endUr~. Moreover, you have 
orally infonned, us that nO stress position wiU-be used that coUld interfere wit1\ the healing 'Of 
Zubaydah's wound. Therefore, we conclude that these techniqu~ involve discOf\lfort that ralls 
far below ,the threshold of severe physical pain. 

Similarly, although the confinement boxes (both small and large) are physically 
UiidJ'mfortable 'beca;use the-it size'te$ictB movement, they are notso small as to require the_ 
iodividual to con.tort his body to- sit (small box) or stand (large box). You. have also orally 
informed us that despite his wound, Zubaydah remains quit~ flexible, which would'substantially 
reduce any paill associated with being placed in the box. \Ve have no information from the 
medical experts you have consulted. that the limited duration for which the individ~aJ is kept ill 
the boxes causes any substantial physical pain. As a result, we do not think the use ,of these 
boxe~ can be said to cause,pain that is of the intensity associated with serious physical injury. 

The use. of one of these boxes \vith the introduction of an insect does not alter this 
assessment. As we underst.and i~ no f!.ctually hanufu[ insect ',~ill be placed in the box. Thus, 
tbough. the introduetioo of an insect ~y pr6duce trepidation in Zubayda:tl ("\yhich we discuss 
below), itccertainly uoes Hul t.:allSe physicarpUIIl. 

As for sleep deprivatio~ it is c.Learthat depriving someone of sleep does not iuv()lve 
severe pbysical pain within the meaning of the statute. \tHule sleep deprivation may involve 
some physical discomfo~ such as th~ fatigue ot the discomfort e.~perienced. in ,the difficulty of 
keeping one's eyes open, these effects remit after the individUal is petmirted to sleep. Based on 
the tacts you have provide.d US~ "!.\fe·are not aware of any evidence-that sleep deprivation results in 
severe physical pain or suffering. As a result. its use does not violate Section 234QA. 

Ev~n thoSt techniques {hal invohre physical contact between tIV! intcrrogat()r and tlle 
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individual do not result in severe pain. The facial slap and walling contain precautions to ensure 
that no pain even approaching this level results. The slap is delivered with flngers slightly 
spread: which you have explained ~o us is designed to be less painful than a closed-hand slap. _ 
TIle slap is also delivered to the fleShy part of the face. further reducing any risk of physical­
druuage or serious pain. The facial slap tioes not produce pain that is diffi'CU.1t -to endure. 
L:ikewise~ walting invol-ves quickly pulling the person f-onvanfand -then thrusting hi~ ~ai~t a 
flexible false \-vall. You bave infOlme.d,us that the sound ofhltting the'waH win a:c.tq:aHybe far 
worse than any possible injUll' to "tbe individuaJ. 'the use of the rolled 'towel around the necK: also 

, reduces any risk of injUry. \Vhile it may hurt tG be jJ'U8hed against tl1e walt! any' pain- exp(:riencoo 
is not of the i-ntensity 25sociated with serious' physical" inJury. 

As we understand it, when the 'J/aterboard is used~ t~e subject's hody responds as iftbe 
subject were drovlI1ing-even though the subject may be well. aware that he is in fact not 
drowning. You have infomled us that this prdcedUr~ does not inflict actual physical harm., Thus, 
althou~h the' subject may eA-perie!lce the feat or p1mic associated with the feeling of drov,uillg~ 
the waterboard does not inflict physical pain. As we expWned in the Section 2340A 
1:-.-1erhorandum, Hpain M,d s'Uff~ringU as used in 'Section 2~40 is best understood as a sirigJe' 
concep4 not distinct concepts of"painn as distinguished from "mffering.tl See Section 2340A 
Memo'randum at 6 n.3. The 'Waterboard: which inflicts no painor'actual harm'whatsoever, does 
not: in our view inflict Hsevere pain or suffering.n Even if one were to parse the sta,tute mote 
fmeIy to attempt to treai usuffel'ing" as a distinct concept~ the waterboard could not be sa:id to 
inflict se\'ere suffering. The waterboard is,simply a controlled acute episod,e~ lacking the 
c.onnotatlon of a protracted period of time generally given to suffering. 

Finally, as we discussed above, you have informed us that in determining which 
procedures to use and how you will use them; yOll have selected techniques that will not harm 
ZUbaydahls wound. You have' also indicated thai numerous steps will be taken to enSUre that 
none of these procedures in allY way interfere~ with the proper heating of Zubaydal1' 5 wound. 
Y Olt h.ave also indicated. that, should it ~ppear at, any time ihat.Zuba)-rd.e.h is experiencing. severe 
pain {lr sufferittg, the m-edicat personnel, ,on band will $top rhe'use'df'any technique. 

Even. when all of these m.ethods are consider'cd combined in an ovet.ail coUrse ,of conduct, 
they still would not inflict severe physical pain or suffering. As discussed above, a nutno~.r of 
these ace; result in no pnYElcal pain: 'otheJ:s prO'fluce only physical discomfort.' You have 
indicated that these acts \viII not be used \\~ili substantial repetition, so thai there is no possibility 
that severe physical pain. could arise from such repetition. Accordingly: Wt! cOllclude (hat these 
acts neither separately nor as part of a CQurse ofc,?oduct would inflict severe physical pain or 
suffering within the meaning of tile statute. 

We next consider whether tl1e use of these teclm.iques would inflict severe me11lal pain or 
suffering within the meaning of Section "2340. Section 234Q deftnes severe mental pain er 
suffering as Uthe prol.onged mental harm caused by or resuiting from;: one of seveL'nl predicate 
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acts. 18 U.S.C. § 2340(2). 1110se predicate acts are: (1) the intentional infliction or threatened 
infliclion of severe physical pain or suffering; (2) U1e administtation orappJieation., or threatened 
administration or application of mind-altering substances or other procedures, calc.u lared to 
disrupt profoundly 'the senses or the personality; (3) the threat of iImU111enl death~ or (4) the thre,at 
that allY of the preceding acts \\liIl be,done to another person. See II U:S.C. § 2340(2)(A)-:(D). 

,As we:have explained., this list of predicate. acts IS exclusive. See St!ctrOll 2340A Memorandum: 
at 8. No other acts can suppor! a charge under Section 2340A based on the infliction of severe 
men !'al pai n or s.uffering. See id. 1 bus: if the methods that you have described do Iio 1 either in 
and of themselves constitule one of these acts or as a course of conduct fulfill the predicare act 
requiremellt, the prohibitiol1 has not been violated. See id. Before addressing these teclmiques, 
\.I.'e note that. it is plain that none of these proc.edures,involves a threat to any third party~ the 'use 
of any kind of drugs, or for the reasons descrihed above, the infliction of severe physical pain. 
TIIUS, the question is whether any Qf these ~cts, separately or as a course of conduct, constitutes 2. 

threat of severe physical pain or suffering, a procedure designed to dismpt profoundly tl1.e senses, 
or a threat of imminent death. As \\o'e, previously e~plaiuedJ whether an action :oonstitutes a threat 
must be assessed from the st:an.dpoint of~teasona:ble person in ~e'subjecCs position. Se'e id: at 
9. 

No argument can be made tbat the aJ;tention grasp or the facial hold consti;tute thre~t5' of 
imminent death or are procedures designed to disruptprofollIldly the senses or personality. In 
general the grasp and the facial hold win startle the subject, produce fear, or even insult him. As 
you have huor:1ned us, the use of these tecimiques..is . .not ac.companied by a'.specific vetb?-l,.threat 
of severe physical pain or suffering~ To the extent that Utese techniques could be' considered a 
threat of severe physical pain or suffering~ such a threat wouJd have to be inferred frout the acts 
themselves .. BeCause these,; acti.ons theffi:Selves involve no pain: neither could be interpreted by a 
reasoua'ble person in Zubaydah~s position to cbnstitute a threat of severe pain or suffering. 
According'ly .. these tw<? techniques' are not predicate acts within the'meariing of Section 2340. 

The facial slap like\vise falls outside the set of predicate aC1S. It plairuy is not a threa.t of 
im.rnihent death) under Section 2340(2)(C), or a procedure designed to disrupt profoundly the 
senses or'personality: under Section 2340(2)(B). Though it may htirt, as discussed above; the 
effect is one of smarting or sting.ing fLlld surprise or humiliation; bm not severe pain. Nor does i[ 
alone constitute a threat of severe pain or sufferingl under Secti(lO 2340(2)(A). Like the facial 
hold and the attention gF3SP~ the use of this slap is not accompanied by a specific verbal threat of' 
further escalating violence. Additionally, you have infonned us that in one use this tedu'lique 

- will typically involve at most twO slaps. Certain1y, til,e' use of this slap may 'dislodge any 
expectation that Zubaydah bad that he would not be touched iIi a.physically aggressive manner. ' 
Nonetheless, this alteration in his expectations could hardly be construed by a reascmable person 
in his situation to be tantamount to a threat of severe physical pain or sulfuring. At most, this 
technique suggests that the circumstances' of his c<?1ifinemel'll and interrogation have cbanged. 
Therefore, the f~cialslap ts not within the statute's exclusive list of predicate acts. 
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\Valling plail'lly is not a pro~edure calculated to disrupt profoundly the senses or 

personality. \\'hile walling involves ,"vh.at might be c.haracterized as rough handling. it does nOl 

illVolve the threat of imminent death or. as discussed above, the infliction of severe'physical pain. 
t.>.{Ol:eover. once again we understand that use of this technique witlnot."be accompanied by any 
specific verbal threat that violence will ensue 'absent c(jope[ation~ Thus, like the. fa~ial slap~ 
walling can QJuy conStitute n threat of severe.phY$ica1 pain if a reasonable person would. infer 
such a threat frqm the use of t4e technique i tsel f. \Va lliug does not in and of-itself 11i£1i ct ·s¢.vere 
pain or suffering. Like the facial.slap. Vr1allrng may alter the subject'$:eA~t~on as·to the 
treatment he believes he will receive. Nonetheless, the character offfie adion faJ1s so fur short: of 
inflicting severe pain or suffering within .. dl.e meaning of the statute that ·even if he inferred· that 
greater aggressiveness was to to 1low, the type of actions that eouid be reasonably "be anticipated 
would stilt falt below anything sufficient to intljct severe 'physical paio or suffering under the 
statuie. Thus~ we conclude that this technique falls outside the proscribed. predicate acts. 

Like walling, stress positions and wall-standing are not procedures calculated to disrupt 
prOfotllldJy the senses, nor are the)1 threats of iITirtlinem death. These procedutes, as discussed 
above! involve the use of muscle fatig:ue to 'encourage cooperation and do not themselves 
. constitute th~ infliction of severe physical pain or suffering.. Moreover; there is no aspect of 
violence tb eifuer teclmi.que that .remotely suggests future sever-e pain -or suffering from "which 
such a threat of future harm coUld be il1ferred. They.simpLy involve forcing the-subject to remain 
In uncomfortable positions. V-!hile these acts may indicate to the subject that he may be placed in 
these positions again if he does not disolose information, the USe of these ~echniqU.es .woul d TI_Qt 

suggest to a reasonable person in the subject's posi~ion that .he is being threatened with severe 
pain or ~ufferlng. AccordinglY3 we c.onclude [hat these tvlO procedures do nol constitUTe any of 
the predicate acts set forth in Section 2340(2) . 

. As with ·the other techniques discussed so far, cramped confinement is not a threat of 
. imminent death.. It may be argQed that, focusing in part on the fact that th~ box~ will be without 
light, placemen.t in these boxes \vould constitute a procedure d.esignedtb disrupt profoundly tl~e 
senses. As we explained in our .recent opinion, however~. to «disrupt profuundly the- senses,t a 
technique must produce an extreme effect in the subject.. Se.e Section '23 40A MernorandUln at 
10-1·2. We have previously concluded that this requires that the procedure cause substantial 
intenerence with the. individual's cognitive abilities or fundamentally alter his personality. See 
ida at 11. Moreover, the statute requires that such procedures must be calculated to produce this 
effect. See Ed. at 10; 18 U.S.C. § 2340(2)(8). 

With respect to the small. c.onIlrl~rnen1 box~ y01I have informed us thai he would spend at 
most two hOlin; in this twx. You have informed us thal your puqJose in using these. boxes is not 
to interfere with "his senses or his personality, but to cause him physical discomfort that will 
encourage him to disclose critical il1fonna1ion. Moreover, your imposition oftime limitations on 
·the use of either of the boxes also indicates that the use of these boxes is not designed or 
calculated 1,0 disrupt profoufld1y the senses or pe.rsonaHty. For the larger-box. in. which he can 
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both stand and sit, he may be placed iri this box fo.r:up to ~ghteen hours at a time, whUe you have 
informed us thal he will never s.£lend more th({h an h~ur at time in the smaller b~x. These time­
limits ~rtherensure that no profound disruption eftlte- _sen...-..:es or personality. were it,even 
possible, would result. As suc~ the use of the co'nfihement boxes does not constitute a 
prqcedure calculated to disrupt profoundly the senses or personality. 

Nor -docs the use of the boxes threaten Zubaydah wirh severe physical pail! Qr suffering. 
\Vh.ile additional time spent in the boxes may be threatened, lheir use is not accompanied by any 
express tIu'eats of severe physical pain or suffering. Like the stress positions and walling~ 
placement in the boxes is physicaUy uncomfortable but any such discomfort does not rise to the 
level of severe pllysicatpam or sufferiD:g. A.¢cordi~gl}\ a reasonable person in the .subject's 
position would not infer from. the use ofthlS technique thatsev~ physical pain _is the-next step 
in his interrogatot's treatm~t of him. Therefo~, vie conclude-that the uSe of the Confinement 
boxes -does not fan.\\~thin the sta.tute~s required predicate acts. 

hl additi-on to using the Confinement bo)tes al'Qne> y~u also would like to intrQduce an 
insect into one of the boxes with Zubaydah, As we understand i~ you plan to inform Zubaydah 
that you are going to place a stinging insect. into the box, but you will actually place a harmless 
insect in the box: such as a caterpill.at. If you do SOt to ensure that-you are o_~de the-predicate 
act requirement, you must infonn him that the insects -Will not have a sting that would prodUce 
~eath_or severe pain. If, ho\v~ver~ you were to place the insect in the box without iul0tl11ll1g-him 
that: yeu -are·ciei.fig- so,. lhenj in Grea-:tQ.uot ~mmit a pr.edicate ~ you should -n:ot affirmativ.ely_ 
lead- him to believe 1hat any . 

the approaches we insect's placement in \vQuld not tonstirote a threat 
of severe physical pain or suffering to a reasonable person in his position, An individual placed 
in a box, even an individual with a fear of insects, would not reasonably f~lthreatened with 
severe physical pain or suffering if a caterpiHar was placed in the box. Further~ you have 
informed us that you are noL aware that Zubaydah has any allergies to insects, and you have Dot 

informed us of any other factors that would cause a reasonable person in that same situation to 
believe that ~n unhlUwu insect would eause him severe physical pain or death. Thus, we 
concJud.e that the piacelUeut of tile insect in the contIneu1ent box with Zubaydah would not 
constitute a predicate act. 

sieep deprivation also clearly does not involve it thteat of imminent death. Although it 
produce,s physical discOnifo~ i1 cannot b~ s_aid to constirute a threat of sev_ere physioal pain or 
suffering from the perspective ofa reasonable person in Zubaydah~s position. Nor GOuld sleep 
deprivatigB -Constitute a procedure calculaled-to disrupt profoundly the senses, so long as sleep 
deprivation (as you have. informed us is your intent) is used for limited periods~ before 
hallucinations or 'Other profound disruptions of the senses would o~ur. To be sure, sleep 
deprivation may reduce the subject's ability to think on his feet Indeed, you indicate that this is-
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the intended result. His mere ·reduced abitity to evade .your q~eSt:i(,lils and r~sl~t ilh$werj.ng apes 
nott however, rise to the ·Ievel of (H.srup;tto~ r.eq\lired. by ·the· Statute:. As we explained a~ov.e, a 
disruption within the meaning of the stature is· an e"Xtreme one, subSfantiaUy interfering with an 
individual's cognitive abilities, for example, inducing hidlucinatiul1S; or driving him· (0 en.gage in 
uncharacteristic self-destn.lctiv~ behavior. See infra 13; Section 1340A h.1emorandui'n al II. 
TIlerefore: the limited use of sleep deprivation do~s not constitute one of the required predicate 
3CI..S. 

\Ve find that the use of the waterboa-rd constitutes a tlueat of imminent death. As you. 
have explained the waterboard procedure to us, it-creates in the subject the tlncool;roHable 
physiologic?} sensation that the subject ·is drowrii~g. Although the procedure will be monitored 
by persbrlnel with medical training and extenSive SERE school experience w.ith 1hjs prQ~d~e 
who vM:ll ensure the subject's mental and physical safety, the subject is not aware of any, of these 
precautions. From th.e vanw.ge point of any reasonable person u..n.deI.going this procedure in such 
circumstances, he would feel as ifhe is dro'VI'ning at very momeni of the procedure due to the 
1.lncontrollable physiological sen.sation he is experiencing. Thu~, thiF procedure cannot be 
viewed as too uncertain to satisfy the imminence requirement. ACCOl'din.gly, it constitutes a 
thrl!ai of imnlinent death and fulfills the predicate act requirement under the statute. 

Alth.ough the \\'aterboard constitutes a threat.ofimminent deat~ prolonged mental harm 
must nonetheless result to violate the statutoty. prohibition ou infliction of severe m~tai pain or 
sufferinij"~ See S.e€tion 2340A Memomndum at 7: We 11av.e previously concluded that. prolonged 
mentfil harm. is mental harm of some lasting duratioll: e. g.'I" mental harm laS;ting. rfiontnsor Y~Ul's. 
See J'd. Prolongeq mental harm is not ~implytne stress 6Xperwuced in, for,e.xample, 'aD 

interrogation by state· police. See ld. Based on your research -imo tile use of these methods at the 
SERE. school and consultation with others v.-ith expemse in the field. ofpsychblogy anti 
interrogation, you do not anticipate that any pr610nged mental harm would resul~· fran1 dle us~ of 
the waterboard. Iodeed~ you have advised us that the relief is almost imnlediate When the cloth is 
removed from the nose and mouth. In the absence of prolonged mental harm, no severe q1ental 
.f1:Jin Of ~llfff".rinG wOllld h~v~. be:en inflicted, and· the use of these prQcedl.lres would not const-in·l{p.: 
tortu~e within the meruling of the statute. 

Vlhen these acts are considered as a c.curse of condu~ we arc lLl)SUre whether these acts 
may constitute a threat of severe physical pain or suffering. You have indicated to us that you 
have not determined either the order or the precise timing for implementing the~e procedUres. Ii 
is conceivable that these procedures could be used in a course of escalating conduct, moving 
incrementally and rapidly from least physicaUy ir!trusive, e.g., facial hold, to the most physical 
contact~ e.g., walling or the waterbo;rrd. As we understand it, based on his treatment $0 far, 
Zubaydah has come to expect that no physical hann will be. done to pjm. By using these 
lechniques in increasing intensi.ty and in rapid succession! the goal wO\lld be to dislodge this 
expectation. Based 00 the facts you ha.ve provided to us, we cannot say definitively ~::1t the 
entire course of condu?t would cause a reasonable person to-believe that he·is being threatened 
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with severe pain or suffering \.vithin the meaning of section 2340. On. the other hand~ howe\'er~ 
under ccrtai·u circumstances-for example, rapid escalation in the use of these techniques 
cuiminating in the waterboard (which we acknowledge constitutes a threat of imminent death) 
accompanied by verbal. or other suggestions that physical \~olencc will follow-might cause a 
reasonable persontto believe that they arc faced with such alhrcat. Without fliore informatioll; 
we are uncertain whether the course of Gonduct wQuLd co~ti{Ut~ a predicate act under S"ection 
2340(2). 

Even if the course of conduct were thought to pose a threat of physical' pain or· suffering, 
it \\'ould nevertheless-{)n the facts before us-not constitute a violati.on of Section 2340A. Not 
only ~nust the course of conduct b~ a predicate aCt, but also those who use the procedure must 
actually cause prolonged mental hann. Based on the infonnation that you have provided to us, 
indicating that no evidence exists.that.this course of conduct prod~es any prolonged mental 
harm) we conclude that a coth"Se·of conduct using these procedures and culmjnating in the 
,vaterboard would not violate Section 2340A. 

Snecific fnteri1. To violate the statute; ·an individu?,l must have the specific intent to 
inflict Severe pain or suffering, Because specific intent is an. element of the offense) . the absence' 
or specific intent negates the charge of torture. As W~ previously opined, to have the required 
specific iJi.tent, an individual must ex.pressly intend to cause such severe pain or suffering .. See 
Section 2340A Memorai-tdum at 3 citing Carter v. UniTed STaleS, 530 U.S. 255~ 267 (2000). \Ve 
have further found that if a defendant acts with the good faith belieftha.t his acti.ons will not 
cause ·such suffering, he has not acted with specific" intent. See ia: at 4 citing South AIl. Lmtd. 
Ptrshp. of Tenn. v. Reise~ 218 F.3d 518: 531 {4th Cir. 2002). / .. ~ defendant acts in good faith 
,-vhen he has an honest belief that his actions will not resul r in severe pain ·or suffering. See id. 
citing Cheek v. Uf-Jited Stales~ 498 U.S. 192, 202 (1991). Although an bon est belief need "not be 
reasonable~ such a belief is easier·to establish wb,ere there is a reasonable basis for it See -j(J. at S. 
Good faith may be establish.ed by, nmong qtherthlngs~ tlte:reUanteon the advice of experts. See 
ld. at 8, 

Based on the information you have ptovid~ us, we believe that those carrying out these 
procedures would not have the specific intent to inflict severe physical pain or suffering. The 
objective of these techniques is not to cause Severe physical pain. FirSt. the cohstaut presence of 
personnel with medical training who have the aUlhority to hiop the interrogation sbould it appear 
it is medir..ally neee.ssary jnri.ir."(!h~~ tlmlif is no! your intent to cause·severe physical pain. The 
personnel 00 site have ex.tensive experience with these specific \eChiliques as they are used in 
SERE school training: Second, you have infonned us that you are taking steps to ensure that 
Zu };1aydah' s iojury is. not wqrsened or his recoVery impeded ~y the use of these techniques. 

Third, as you have described them to us, the proposed teduuques involving physical 
contact between the interrogator and Zubaydah actually contain precautions to prevent any 
serious physical harm to Zubaydah. In "waJjing,n a rolled bood or towel will be used to prevent 
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whiplash and he will be permitted to rebound from the flexible wall to reduce the likelihood of 
injury. Similarly, in the "facial hold/ i the fingertips wiU be kept well av-,ray from the his· eyes to 
ensure· that there is.l.1Q 'injury to them. TIle purpose of that facia1·hold. is: nol,) njure him but to 
hold the h~d il.lUliobile. Additionally, while:the stress-positions and wall standing win 
undoub~-edly result in physical discomfort by tiring the musclesi it is obvious that tbese positioos 
are DOl intendt;d to produce the kind of extreme pain require.d .by the statute. 

Furthennore: no specific intent to cause severe mcmal pain or suffering appears to be 
present As we explained in our recen[ opinion. an individual must have the specific intent to 
cause prolonged mental harm. in order to have the specific intent to inflict severe mental pain or 
suffering. See Section 2340A Memorandum at 8. Prolonged mental hann is substantial mental 
harm of a sustained 4uratio~ e.g.) harm lasting ulonths or even years after the acts were inflicted 
upon the_prisoner. A.~ we indicated abo'Ve, a goprl faith·beliefc.an negate this element. 
Accordingly, if ~ individual conducting !he intelT(j~tlon:has a good' truth belief that tlle 
procedures he will apply? separatel y or together, would not resl,1tt ~ -pro~onge{l mental hann, that 
individuall-acks me r~quisite specitk intent This conclusion concerning .~cjfjc ip.tent is further 
bo lstel'ed by the due diligence ~l has been conducted concetfl.i.ng the· effects' of these 
interrogation procedures; . 

TIle mental h.ealth experts thai you have consulted have indicated that the psychological 
itnpact of a course of conduct must be assessed with reference to the subject's psychological 
history and cun'ent.mental health status. The healthier the individual: the less likely that the use 
of anyone procedure or set of procedures as ·a course qf conduct will result in prolonged mental 
hann. A comprehensive psychological profile of Zubaydah has been created. In creating this . 
profile) your personnel drew all dli-ect interview6) Zubaydah ~ s 'diaries, observation of Zu baydah 

~ md . 

As we indicated above. you have inf-ormed us that Ytlur propoSed iutenogatiol1 ,methods 
have been use<i and continue to be- U5ed-·in SERE. training. It is our understanding that theSe 
tcclmiques are 001 used one by one in isolation, but as a full course uf conduct tb resemble a real 
interrogation, Thus, the information derived frqm SERE training bears both upon the IDlpact of 
the use of the individual techniques and upon their use as a course of conducl You have found 
that the use of these methods t{lgetiler or separatelYJ including the use of the waterboar-d, lias not 
resulted in any negative long-terin. mental he.alth consequences. The continued-use of these 
methods without luertta1 health consequences to the trainees indicates that it is higbly improbable 
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that such consequences would resull here. Because you have conducted the due diligence to 
detennine that these procedures; either aione or in combination, do not produce prolonged mental 

. harm, we believe that you de not meet the specific intent requirement necessary to violate 
Section 2340A. 

You have" also· informed us tbat. you hav.e reviewed the relevant literature on the subject, 
and consulted with outside psychologists:. Your review oflhe liierature unc:overe<l no· entpirical 
data on the use ofth~se procedures: witb the exception ofsi:eep deprivation for \\tbich.no long,.. 
term health conseq),lences resulted. The Q\ltsi~e p~ychologistswith whom yO!! consUlted 
indicated were unaware "of any ~'ises where long-term: problems have octurred as a re:sutt ofth:ese 
techniques. 

As described above. it appears you have conducted an extensive inquiry to ascertain·what 
impact, if any 1 these procedure.~ individually and as a course of conduct would have on 
Zubaydah. You have consulteD. with interrogation experts, including those .... "ith substantial 
SERE school experience; consulted with outside psyc.hologists, compleled a psychological 
assessment and reviewed the. relevant literature on this topic. Based on this inquiry, you believe 
that the use of the procedures: inCluding the waterboard, and as a course of COri.duct would.not 
result in prolonged mental harm. Re.liance on this information aboU! Zubaydah and about the 
effect of the use of these techniques mote generally demonstrates the presence of a good faith 
belief that no prolonged mental balDl will result from using these methods in the interrogation of 
Zubaydah. MoreoveI~ we think that this represents not only a11 honest belief but also a 
re.asonable beli~fbased 011 the infonnation·that you have supplied to us. Thus, we believe that 
the specHlc intent to inflict prolonged mental is not preseDt~ and consequently, there is· no 
specific in.tent to inflict severe mental pain or suffering. Accordingly, we conclude (hat on the 
facts in this case the use of these methods separately or a course or condu.ct wou~d not violate 
Section 2340A. 

Based ali the fdregoing~ and based on the facts that you have provided, we"cliIi.ciuge that 
the interrogation procedures that you propose would not violate Section 234:0A." We-wish to 
emphasize that this is our best reading of the law; however: you should be aware that there ate no· 
cases construing this statute; just as there have been no prosecutions brought under it. 

Please let us know tf We can be of further assistance. 

dli
v.~f1 Jet 

. Ja S. Bv 
ss·· t Attorney eral 
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Guidelipes on Confinement Conditions For CIA Detainees 

These Guidelines govern the' conditions of confinement for 
CIA D~tainees, who are pers 
facilities that are under th~ 

e ze that 
en ronmen.tal and 0 r co;nditions,', as, well, as particularized 
considerations affec'ting any given Detention Facility, will. 
vary from' case to case and· location to location'. ' 

, ' 

1. .. Miniinums 

~st be to protect the health and 

2. xmpl~nting Proced~res 
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Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees 

3,. ~esponsibJ.e Cl:A Officer 

'The Director, ,DC! Counterterrorist Center shall 
~s\lre ta)' that, at all tirn~s, a specific Agency staff 
employee (the ~Responsible CIA OfficerN) is designated'as 
responsible for each specific Detention Facility, ,(b) that 
each Responsible erA Officer has been'provided with a copy of 
these Guidelines and has reviewed and signed the attache~ 

, AC,knowledgmentl and" ,(c) that each Responsible. CIA 01=ficer and 
each CIA officer par.tic~~ating 

th a 
suant 

and has 
,.,nc.,..>oto. _ 

SUbject' to operational and security considerations., ,the 
Responsible CIA Officer shall be present at, or visit, each 
Deteption Facility at .intervals appropriate to the 
circumstances. 

APPROVED: 

Date 



( 
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( 

r, 

Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for~IA Detainees 

, I, , am the ',Responsible CIA' Officer for the 
Detention Facility known as . By my signature , 
below, I acknowledge that I have read and understand' and will 
comply. with the ~Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CIA 
Detainees· of ' 2003. 

ACKNOWLEDGED. 

Name, nate 

." 
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These Guidelines addres$ .the.conduct of interrogations of 

t 

These Guidelines complement internal Directorate of 
Oper.ations guidance relating to .the 'conduct of' . 

. . interrogations .' In the event o~ any inconsistency between 
existi~g DO guidance and these Guideli~es, the provisi~ns of 
these Guidelines s~al1 contro~ . 

. l.. .Permi~ s~l~ J:nterro~ati~~ Techniques 

Unl'ess otherwise appro~ed by Headquarters, CIA 
officers and other personnel acting on behalf of CrA may use 
only Permissible Interrogation ~echniques. Permissible 
Interrogation·Techniques consist of both (a) Standard 
Techniques and (b) Enhanced Techni·ques. . . 

. Standard TeChniqueS are tec~iques that do not . 
incorporate physical or substantial psychological pressure. 
These techniques include, but are not limited to~ all lawful 
forms of questioning. employed py US law enforcement and 
militarY interrogation personnel. Am9ng Standard.TeChniques 
.are the use of isolationj sleep deprivation not to exceed 
72 hours; reduced caloric intake (so long 'as'the amount is 
calculated to maintain the general' health of the detainee), 
deprivation of reading material,' use of. loud music' or white 
noise (at a decibel level calcul~ted to avoid damage to' the 
detainee~s hearing), and the use of diap~d 

hours ,_ 

ALL . 
THIS DOCT .......... ~ ... --.::-:u."""'"'"' 

CLASSIFIED TOP moR-m' 



Enhanced TechniqUes are techpiques that do 
incorporate phys'ical '9r psycho,logical pressure 'b~yond 
Standard Techniques. The: use of each specif~c Enhanced 
T~chn,ique ,must be approv~d ~y Headquarters in advance, and 
may b~ employed only by approved interrogators for use with 
the specific detainee, with appropriate medical and 
psychological participation i'n the p~ocess. These techniques 
are, the attention grasp, 'walling, the facial hold, the 
,~acial slap (insult slap)', t;.he abdominal slap, cramped 
confinemerit, wall standing; ,stress pO'$itions, sleep 
deprivation beyond 72 hou~sJ the use of diapers for prolong~d 
periods, the use of, harm1ess insect~, the water board, and 
such other t(;!chniques as may"b,e specific'ally' approved 

'pursuant. to paragraph 4 b~lqw.' The us.e of each Enhanced 
Technique fs subject to specific temPoral, ,physical, and 
re~ated conditions, iricluding a competent evaluation of the 
medical and psychological· ~state of' the ¢let~inee. 

,2. Me,dica:J. and, P~ycihoi~gical. Per,somie~ 

cal and psychological I>ersonnel shal·1. 
be eadily,av~ilable for consultation and 

nterrogation site d~in'g. all detainee 
.interrogati(i)ns employing ,Standard Techniques, and appropriate 
medical and.psYGhological personnel must 'be on site during 
~ll detaine~ interrogations.employing'Enhanced Techniques. 
In each case, the·medical and psychologi~al personnel shall 
suspend the interrogation if they'det~rmine that signifi~ant 
and prolonged ,physical o~ mental injury, ·pain, or suffering 
is likely to result if 'the int,erroga,t;ion is not suspended. 
In any ,such instance, the interrogation team shall. 
immediately report the facts to HeaQquarters for ~agement 
and legal review to.determdne whether the interrogation may 
be resumed. 

3 . J:nterroga tion Personnel 

The Director, DCI'Counterterrorist Center shall 
that all personnel directly engaged ~. , 

cps'detained pursuant 
have been appropriately s.-creene rom 

Ul=.~~Q., ogical l and security standpoints), have 
reviewed ~hese Guidelines, have received appropriate training 
in ,their implementation, and have completed the a~tached 
Acknowledgment. . 
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4 .. ~pprovai~ Requi~ed 

Whenever feasible, . a·dvance approval. is. required for 
the use· of Standaid ~echniqu~s by·an interrogation team. In 

·all instances, their use shall·be documented in cable . 
traf f iq~. . Pt:'ior ~pproval in wri tiI?-g . ( e .. 9 ., by. wri t ten 
memorandum or in cable traffic) from the Director,. DCI 
CoUnterterrorist Center I wi th the concurrence of the Chie·f, 
eTC Legal Group, is· r.eqliired for. the use of any· Enhanced 
Technique (3);' and ~y ·.be provid~cl·only where D/CTC has 
determined that, (a) the specific detainee is believed to 
possess 'information ~bout risks to the citizens·of the United 
. States or other nations, (b) the :use of the Enhanced 
Te~hniciue·(s) :'is appropriate in order .t9 obtain that . 
information, (c) ."appropriate· me<;1ica~ and psychological 
.personnel have· concluded that the use of. the ·Enhanced 
Technique(s) is not expected to produ~e ftsev~~e physical or 
'mental.pain qr suff·ering, M and (d)·' the . personnel authori2;ed· 
. to .e,mp10y the Enhanced. Teclutique.(s) .have completed the . 
attached Acknowledgment. Nothing in these ~idelines alters 
the r~ght to act ·in self-defen~e. 

5 • Recordkeeping 

In each interrogation sess"ion. in which an Enhanced 
Technique i.s employed, a cont.emPoraneous record ·~hall be 
created setting· forth the'nature and duration of each such 
t.echnique employed, ·the ,identities of those pr~sent, and a 
citation to the required HeadqUarters approval cable. This 
information, which may be in the form of a cable, shall be 
pro~ided to Headquarters. 

APPROVED: 
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I. _, ack.D.owle"dge that I have read and 
understand and will. comply· with the M~~~~~ 
Interro tions ted Pursuant to 

ACKNOWLEDGED: 

Name Date· 

I. 
4 
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DRAFT OMS GUIDELINES ON MEDICAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL SUPPORT TO 
, 'DETAINEE INTERROGATIONS ' 

, 'September 4,2003 

The following guidelines offer general references for medical officers supporting 
the detention of terrorists captured and turned over to the Central Intelligence Agency for 
iJiterrogation and'debriefing. There are three ,different contexts in which these gujdelines 
Ih~Y be applied: (1) 'd~g th~',period ~f¥tia1 interrogation, 

pellon I"I.T·,ion1I"'tP1"1n 'at interrogation sit~l and, 

, INTERROGATION SUPPORT 
. ~ 
:1 
~: C~ptured teI;TOrists turned over to the C'.LA. for j.nt~rrogation may be sUbjected'to 

a ~ide -range of legally sanctioned techriiqu~s, all of which are alsq Used, on U.S. military 
p~rsoimel in SERE training programs. These are designed, to psychologically "dislocate" 
the detainee, maxhnize .his feeling of. vulnerability and helplessness, and reduce or 
el\Ininate his '!Vill t,o resist our efforts to obtain critical intelligence. 

, 

, ,'Sanctioned interrogation teclullques must be ,specifically approved in' advance by 
th~ Dire~tor t eTC in the case of each indi v-idual case. They include, in approximately. 
ascending degree of in~enBity: . 

Standard measures (i.e., without physical or substantial psychological pressure) 
Shaving , 
Stripping 
Diapering (generhl,ly fO.r periods not greater than 72 hours) 
Hooding " 
isolation 
White 'noise'·or loud music (at ~ decibel level that will not damage hearing) 
Contin:uous itght or darkn~ss 
Uncomfortably eool environment . 
Restri~ted diet, including, reduced caloric intake (sufficie,nt to maintain 

, general health) " 
Sha¢kling in upright, sitting, or- horizontal position 
Water Dousing 
Sleep,deprivation (up to 7'4- hours) 

'Enhanced measures (wi$ physical or psychological pressure beyond the above) , 
A~ntion grasp 
Facial hold ' 
Ins.ult (facial) slap , 

1 
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AQdommaf slap 
Prolonged diapering 
Sleep depriyation (over 72 hours) 
Stress positions 

-on knees, body slanted forward or backward 
'--leaning with forehead on wall 

Wallin ' g , ' , , 
Cramped.confmement (Confme~ent boxes) , , 
Waterboard 

~ . . . ~ 

In all instances the general goal of these techniques is a psychological imp'ac~ and 
not ,some physical effect, With a specific.gmil of iCdislocat[ing] his expectations regarding 
~e treatn)ent he believes ~e, will receive ... ~" The more physical t~chniques are 
delivered in, a manner carefully limited to avoid ~eriQus physicat harm. The slaps for 
example -are' de~lgi1~d "to induce s~ockt surPrise, 'anCUor l1umiliationn and "not to inflict 
physical pain that 'is severe or lasting." To this ,end they ,must be delivered in a 
specifically circumscribed manner, e.g., with'fmgers spread. Walling is'ollly against.a 
springhoard designed to be.1oud and bouncy (and cushion' the blow),' All walling and 
mo~t a~ention ~ps are, delivered onJY,with the subject' s 'hea~ solidly supported with a 
towel to avoid extensfon ... f1exiQ,n injury. 

OMS is responsible for assessing and monitoring the health of ,all Ag'ency 
detaine(!s s~bject to "enhanced" interrogation techniques, and for detenhlning that the 
authorized adininistration of these techniques 'would, not be 'expected to cause serious or 
pequanent harm.! "DCIGuide1ines!l'hav~ been issued formalizing these responsibilities, 
and these should be read directly .. 

Whenever feasible, advance approval is'required to use any measures beyond 
standard measures; technique-specific advanced approval is required for all "enhanced" 
measures and is conditional on on-site medical and psyc!lological'personne12 confirming 
from direct detainee examination that the enhanced technique(s) is nqt expected to ' 
produce "severe physical or mental pain ot suffering." As a practical matter, the 
,detainee' s physical'condi~on ,must 1?e such that these interventions will 'not have lasting 

1 The standard used by the Justice Department for "mental" harm is "prolonged mental 
harm," Le., "ment~ harm of some'lasting duration, e.g., mental harm lasting months or years." 
"In the abs'ence of prolonged mental harm, no severe mental pain Or suffering would have been 
inflicted.", Memorandum of August 1, 2002t p. 15.' , 

Unless 
waterboard requires the presence of a physician. 
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'effect, and his psychological state strong enough that no severe psychological harm will . 
result. " . 

The medical'implications" of the DCI guidelines are discussed below. 

General intake evaluation 

New"detainees are" to haye a thorough initial medical assessment) with. a complete, 
documented " 

• t': 

I,..nn.~''''~ brief, the data should reflect what ~as checked and include 

. Medical treatment 

It is important that adequate medical care be prov~cied to ~etainees, even those 
undergoing enhanced interrogation. Those requiring chrome medications should receive 
them, acu should be ' and ' . " 
provide<;l. 

3 
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Uncomfortably cool enviroinnents 

Detainees can safely be pla~ed in 
lengths of time, ranging from hours to day~ .. 

Core body temperature falls after more than 2 hours at an ambient temperature of 
lO°CI50°F. At this tempera~ increased metabolic rate carmDt compensate for heat· 
loss. The-WHO reconunended minimum indoor temperature is 18°C/64°P. The 
l1hermoneutral zone" where minimal compensatory activity is required to maj.ntain core 
temperature is 20°C/68°P to 30°Cl86°P. Within the thermoneutral zone, 26°r;ngoF is 
considered comfortable for Ii clothed individuals and 30°Cl86~F for naked 
individuals. 

If there is any possibility that ambient temperatures are below the thermoneutral 
should be monitored and ~e actpal '~Tl"T\a, ..... hl.,.a<, u.V""\.4.l.,L~""~I."'u.. 
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At ambient tempenitures below 18°C/64°P n"'T~~'tnOOr> '".' .... ~'·I,... 

1I"u,\'rn".,,,,? of tnrr,,, .. t'~rtn1 

White noise or.loud music 

As a practical gUide, there js no pe~anent hearing risk for continuous, 24-hours­
a-day exposures to sound at 82 dB, or lower; at 84 dB for up to 18 h,ours a day; 90 dB for 
up to 8 hoUrs, 95 dB for 4 hours, 'and 100 dB for 2 
be to measure these ambient sound levels. 

Shackling 

• • • I • f 
Shackling ill non-stressful positions requires only monitoring for the development 

·th Aatetr atm 't ' d d' tm t {th h kl . d. 
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Assuming no medical contrllindications are founu, eXknueJ periods (up LO 72 
hours)" in a standing position can be approved if the hands Gre no hi er than head level 
and w' t is borne full the lower extremities. 

6 
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Sleep 'deprivation 

The sta,ndard approval for sleep deprivation, per se (without regard to shackling posi~on) 
-is 72 hours. Extension of sleep deprivation beyond 72 continuous hours is considered an 

. ~ • ~.. a't"'\..".,."" ,u .. il 

. .. 
NOTE: Examinations peifonned during periods of sleep deprivation should--include the 
current number oj hours without sleep; and, if only a brief re~ preceded thi~_periodJ the 
specifics of the previous deprivation also should be recorded. 

Cramped confinement ( Confmement boxes) 

to 2 hours. Confinement in the large box is limited tq 8 
"consecutive ho\U's, 
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Waterboard 

This is by far the most traumatic of the enhanced interrogation techniques. The 
historical context here was limited knowledge of the use of the waterboard iIi SERE 
training (several hWldred trainees experience it every y~ar or two), 'In the SERE model 
the subject is llnmobilized on his back, and his forehead and eyes covered'with a cloth. 
A stream of water is directed at the upper lip., Resistant subjects then·have·the cloth, 
lowered to cover the nose and moutht as the water continues to be ,applied, fully 
satur~ting the cloth, and precluding the passage of air. ,Relatively little water enters the 
mouth. The occlusion (which may be partial) laSts no ~or.e than 20 seconds. On removal 
of the cloth, the subject is immediately able to breathe, but continues to have water 
directed at the upper lip to prolong ,the effect. This process can continue for:se~era1 
minutes, and involve up to 15 canteen cups. of water. Ostensibly the primary"~esired 
effect derives from the sense of suffocation resulting from the wet cloth temporarily 
occluding the nose and mouth, ,and psychological impact of ¢e continued application of 
water after the 'cloth is removed; SERB trainees usually have only a single exposure to 
this technique, and never ,more than two; ~ERE tr~ers' consid,er it therr most' ~£fecti.ve 
technique, ,and deem, it virtually irresistible in the tr~ng setting. 
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The SERE training program has applied the waterboard technique (single 
exposure) to trainees for years, and reportedly there have been thousands of applications 
~ithout significant or lasting medical ~omplications. The procedure noneth~les$ carries 
some risks, particularly when repeated a large ,number of times or 'when applied to an 
individual less fit tban,a typical SERE trainee.,' Several medical diniensions need to be 
monitored ·to ensure the safety' <?f the subject. 

In our limited experience, extensive sustameq use of the w~terboard can introduce 
. new risks. Most seriously, for reasons of physical fatigue, or psychological resignation, 

the subject may simply give up, allowing ex~essive filling of the airways and loss of 
consciousness. ·An unresponsive subject should be righted immediately, and the 
interrogator should deliver- a sub-xyphoid thrust to expel the water. If this fails to restore 
normal breathing, aggressive medical intervention.is required. Any s~bject who has 
reach~d this degree of compromise is not considered ail appropria.te candidate for the 
waterboard, and the physician.oI?: the scene CaJ;l not approve further use of , the waterboard 
without specific C/OMS consultation and app~oval. . 

, . . 

A rigid guide to medically approved use,of the "?'~terbo~ in ~s~nti.ally healthy 
individuals is not possible, as safety·will depend on how the water is applied and' the 

. specific response each time iris used. The following . general 'guidelines are based on 
very limited knowledge, m8:WD from very few·sllbjec~s whose experien~~ and response 
was quite varied. These represent only the 1!ledical guidelines; legal guidelines also are 
operative and may be more' restrictive. 
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A series (within a "session") of several rehitively rapid waterboard applications i~ 
medically acceptable in all heal 'ects so Ion as there indication of 

~ 
_ S per 24 hours have been employed.without 
app~~nt medical complication .. The exact nuIilber of sessions cannot be' prescribed, and 
will depend on the response to e3:ch. If more ·thari 3 sessions of ? or more applications 
are envisioned within a 24 hours period, a careful medical reassessment must be made 
.before 'each later sess~on. 

By days 3-5 of all: aggressive program, .cumulative 'effects become a potential 
concern. Without any hard data to quantify either this risk or the advantages.of this 
. technique, we believe that beyond this poi~t continued intense· waterboard applications . 
may not be medically appropriate. Continued aggressive ~e 9f the waterboard beyond' 
. this point should be revi'ewed the HVT team in consultation with . to 

further aggt~essl 

NOTE: In order to best inform jUture me~ical judgments and recommendations, it is 
imporlarrt that every application 'o/the waterboard be thoroughly documented: h~w long 
each application (and the entire procedure) lasted, how much water.was used ,in the 
process (realiz;ing'that much splashes.of!J, how exactly the water was applied, if a seal 
wa~ . achieved, if the nas9- or oropharyro: was filled, what sort of volume was expelled, 
how long was. the break between applications; and ho,w the s~bject looked between each 
treatment. 
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